New Jersey Institute of Technology Digital Commons @ NJIT

Theses

**Electronic Theses and Dissertations** 

12-31-2021

# Itraconazole nanocomposites prepared via rotary evaporator drying of nanomilled suspensions

Alexander Santos Coelho New Jersey Institute of Technology

Follow this and additional works at: https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/theses

C Part of the Other Chemical Engineering Commons, and the Pharmaceutical Preparations Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Coelho, Alexander Santos, "Itraconazole nanocomposites prepared via rotary evaporator drying of nanomilled suspensions" (2021). *Theses*. 1878. https://digitalcommons.njit.edu/theses/1878

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by the Electronic Theses and Dissertations at Digital Commons @ NJIT. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses by an authorized administrator of Digital Commons @ NJIT. For more information, please contact digitalcommons@njit.edu.

# **Copyright Warning & Restrictions**

The copyright law of the United States (Title 17, United States Code) governs the making of photocopies or other reproductions of copyrighted material.

Under certain conditions specified in the law, libraries and archives are authorized to furnish a photocopy or other reproduction. One of these specified conditions is that the photocopy or reproduction is not to be "used for any purpose other than private study, scholarship, or research." If a, user makes a request for, or later uses, a photocopy or reproduction for purposes in excess of "fair use" that user may be liable for copyright infringement,

This institution reserves the right to refuse to accept a copying order if, in its judgment, fulfillment of the order would involve violation of copyright law.

Please Note: The author retains the copyright while the New Jersey Institute of Technology reserves the right to distribute this thesis or dissertation

Printing note: If you do not wish to print this page, then select "Pages from: first page # to: last page #" on the print dialog screen



The Van Houten library has removed some of the personal information and all signatures from the approval page and biographical sketches of theses and dissertations in order to protect the identity of NJIT graduates and faculty.

#### ABSTRACT

#### ITRACONAZOLE NANOCOMPOSITES PREPARED VIA ROTARY EVAPORATOR DRYING OF NANOMILLED SUSPENSIONS

#### by Alexander Santos Coelho

The aim of this study is to explore the feasibility of rotary evaporation for drying wetmilled drug suspensions as a novel approach to produce drug nanocomposites that exhibit fast redispersion and immediate drug release. To this end, the physical stability of the nanomilled itraconazole (drug) suspensions, a.k.a., nanosuspensions, during the milling and storage; the drying of the itraconazole nanosuspensions via the rotary evaporator; and the type/loading of various polymers/surfactants (dispersants) on aqueous redispersion and drug release from the nanocomposites were examined. Our results suggest that smaller drug particle size, owing to nanomilling, and smaller nanocomposite particle size, owing to optimized drying and subsequent mortar–pestle milling, as well as higher concentration of hydrophilic polymers/surfactants enhanced redispersion and drug release. Overall, rotary evaporation of drug nanosuspensions could achieve fast redispersion and immediate release of poorly soluble drugs from these nanocomposites, with less concern over potential flowability issues than spray-dried nanocomposites.

# ITRACONAZOLE NANOCOMPOSITES PREPARED VIA ROTARY EVAPORATOR DRYING OF NANOMILLED SUSPENSIONS

by Alexander Santos Coelho

A Thesis Submitted to the Faculty of New Jersey Institute of Technology in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science in Chemical Engineering

> Otto H. York Department of Chemical and Materials Engineering

> > December 2021

 $\bigcirc$  $\langle$ 

## **APPROVAL PAGE**

# ITRACONAZOLE NANOCOMPOSITES PREPARED VIA ROTARY EVAPORATOR DRYING OF NANOMILLED SUSPENSIONS

**Alexander Santos Coelho** 

Dr. Ecevit A. Bilgili, Thesis Advisor	Date
Professor of Chemical and Materials Engineering, NJIT	
Dr. Kathleen McEnnis, Committee Member	Date
Assistant Professor of Chemical and Materials Engineering, NJIT	

Dr. Roman S. Voronov, Committee Member Associate Professor of Chemical and Materials Engineering, NJIT

Date

# **BIOGRAPHICAL SKETCH**

Author:	Alexander Santos Coelho
Degree:	Master of Science in Chemical Engineering
Date:	December 2021

#### **Undergraduate and Graduate Education:**

- Master of Science in Chemical Engineering, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, 2021
- Bachelor of Science in Chemical Engineering, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, 2019

# Major: Chemical Engineering

Minor: Applied Mathematics

#### **Presentation and Publications:**

#### Journal Articles:

- Rahman, M., Arevalo, F., Coelho, A., & Bilgili, E. (2019). Hybrid nanocrystal–amorphous solid dispersions (HyNASDs) as alternative to ASDs for enhanced release of BCS Class II drugs. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 145, 12-26. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2019.10.002</u>
- Rahman, M., Coelho, A., Tarabokija, J., Ahmad, S., Radgman, K., & Bilgili, E. (2020).
   Synergistic and antagonistic effects of various amphiphilic polymer combinations in enhancing griseofulvin release from ternary amorphous solid dispersions. European journal of pharmaceutical sciences: official journal of the European Federation for Pharmaceutical Sciences, 150, 105354. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2020.105354

#### Conference Proceedings:

M. Rahman, F. Arevalo, A. Coelho, S. Ahmad, J. Tarabokija, S. Bhujbal, E. Bilgili,

Roles of SDS in Griseofulvin from Nanocomposites and Amorphous Solid

Dispersions: A comparative Study. AIChE Annual Meeting, 2019, Orlando, FL

- M. Rahman, A. Coelho, S. Ahmad, J. Tarabokija, S. Bhujbal, K. Radgman, E. Bilgili, Possible Synergistic Effects of Binary Polymers in Enhancing Release of a poorly Soluble Drug from Amorphous Solid Dispersions. AIChE Annual M eeting, 2019, Orlando, FL
- M. Rahman, A. Coelho, S. Bhujbal, E. Bilgili, Spray-dried nanocomposites and amorphous solid dispersions with identical formulation for comparative assessment of drug dissolution enhancement. AIChE Annual Meeting, Pittsburgh, PA

To my mom and dad who have always supported me

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to start out with extending my appreciation for my thesis advisor, Dr. Ecevit A. Bilgili. His guidance, skills and knowledge have helped me progress in my studies and pushed me to do better every day. I am especially grateful for the countless hours spent on discussing project details and scientific studies. Ever since the first year of Fluid Dynamics, Dr. Bilgili has always pushed and supported my studies helping me to always achieve the best that I can. It has always been a pleasure to have him as mentor through the years.

I would like to thank my thesis committee members for taking the time to be a part of this journey. To Dr. Kathleen McEnnis, for her guidance and help with key fundamental aspects of this work. For if it had not have been for taking her polymer course CHE 782 and the project associated with the course, this work would have not been possible. To Dr. Roman S. Voronov, for his feedback, outside perspective and insight on the research which helped me to achieve a better manuscript.

I would also like to express my gratitude to my manager, Luke Schenck. He has been a role model in the workplace and has always showed me that there is more than one perspective to solve a problem. Even when experiments were not going as well as I had hoped, Luke was there to help guide and encourage me to find a solution. His years of experience in the workplace helped me tremendously while discussing different ideas and working through experiments. I am very grateful to have the pleasure of working with Luke the past few years.

I would like to show my appreciation for all my co-workers who have been directly involved in helping me in one form or another throughout this journey. I would like to start by thanking Gulenay Guner for her assistance in performing some of the experiments used in this thesis and for always being around to talk about research related topics. I would also like to thank Dr. Mahbubur Rahman for all his help with answering the hundreds of questions that I have asked over the years both relating to work and this research as well as for being a great friend throughout the years. I would like to thank Dr. Derek Frank and Dr. Marina Solomos for all their support while I was running experiments in the lab and helping to talk through some challenging questions that I encountered.

Finally, I would like to extend my greatest appreciation to my family. My mother, Eunice Coelho, has always given me the utmost support and always said I could achieve anything I set my mind to. My father, Paulo Coelho, who has always been there with his jokes that have helped me to always cheer up. My aunt, Liliana Santos, whom without her comments and analysis, I would not have been able to get through writing this paper. Lastly, my sister, Camille Coelho, for being there as my moral compass and sending me many inspirational messages. Without the support of all these individuals I would not have been able to get through this incredible journey.

Cl	napter	•		Page	
1	INT	RODUC	CTION	1	
	1.1	Motivation			
		1.1.1	Drug Nanosuspensions	2	
		1.1.2	Drug Nanocomposites	5	
	1.2	Background and Challenges			
		1.2.1	Impact of Dispersants on Nanosuspension Stability	6	
		1.2.2	Comparison of Different Drying Methods	8	
		1.2.3	Redispersion and Drug Release from Nanocomposites	11	
	1.3	Object	tives	12	
	1.4	Thesis	outline	12	
2	NAN	IOSUS	PENSION PREPARATION AND CHARACTERIZATION	14	
	2.1	Materials and Methods			
		2.1.1	Materials	14	
		2.1.2	Formulations and Wet Stirred Media Milling	15	
		2.1.3	Particle Size Analysis	17	
		2.1.4	Nanosuspensions with Additional Dispersants	18	
	2.2	Result	s and Discussion	19	
		2.2.1	Particle Breakage During Wet Media Milling	19	
		2.2.2	Nanosuspension Stability and Dispersant Analysis	21	
	2.3	Conclu	usions	24	

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

Cl	hapte	r		Page
3	NAN WA	NOCON Y OF PI	1POSITES AND IMPACT OF PROCESSING: A DIFFERENT RODUCING NANOCOMPOSITES	26
	3.1	Mater	ials and Methods	26
		3.1.1	Materials	26
		3.1.2	Formation of Nanocomposites via Rotary Evaporation	27
		3.1.3	Processing Rotary Evaporated Nanocomposites	28
		3.1.4	Particle Sizing	29
	3.2	Result	as and Discussion	30
		3.2.1	Properties of the Nanocomposites	30
		3.2.2	Other Drying Challenges	32
	3.3	Concl	usions	35
4	IMP DISS	ACT SOLUT	OF DISPERSANTS ON DRUG REDISPERSION AND ION	36
	4.1	Mater	ials and Methods	36
		4.1.1	Materials	36
		4.1.2	Redispersion of Nanocomposites	37
		4.1.3	Dissolution Testing	39
		4.1.4	Particle Size of Redispersed Nanocomposites	40
	4.2	Result	as and Discussion	40
		4.2.1	Nanoparticle Recovery via Redispersion	40
		4.2.2	Dissolution Enhancement of ITZ	47

# TABLE OF CONTENTS (Continued)

C	hapte	r		Page
		4.2.3	Spray Drying vs. Rotary Evaporator Drying	52
	4.3	Concl	usions	55
5	CON	NCLUS	ION AND FUTURE WORK	57
	5.1	Concl	usions	57
	5.2	Future	e Work	58
		5.2.1	Use of Other Dispersants for Dissolution Enhancement	58
		5.2.2	Flowability and Tabletability Assessment of Nanocomposites	59
		5.2.3	Pharmacokinetics Studies	59
		5.2.4	Thin Film Evaporation (TFE): Drying of Nanosuspensions	60
R	EFER	ENCES		61

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1.1	Media Milled FDA Approved Drugs	4
2.1	Formulations of the Milled Suspensions	15
2.2	Nanosuspension PSD After Milling and Formulating: Stability Post Processing	22
3.1	Particle Sizes of the Nanocomposites from Rotavapor without Further Downstream Processing	31
3.2	Particle Sizes of Nanocomposites after Mortar and Pestle Milling	32
3.3	Particle Sizes of the Nanosuspensions and the Nanocomposites Prepared via Drying (with Feed and Bleed)/Mortar and Pestle Milling	34
4.1	Theoretical Drug Loading of Nanocomposites	38
4.2	Nanocomposite Redispersion: Preliminary Testing of Rotary Evaporated Nanocomposites	41
4.3	Mortar and Pestle Processed Composites Redispersion	42
4.4	Feed and Bleed Nanocomposite Redispersion	43
4.5	Impact of Polymer Type and Loading on Redispersed Particle Size	43
4.6	$f_1$ and $f_2$ Statistics for the Dissolution Profiles of Differently Processed ITZ Particles.	49
4.7	$f_1$ and $f_2$ Statistics for Polymer Type	52
4.8	F1 and F2 Statistics for Dissolution of Rotary Evaporated and Spray-Dried Nanocomposites	54

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figur	·e	Page
2.1	Schematic of Netzsch Media mill in the recirculation mode (left) and photograph of the setup in the laboratory (right)	17
2.2	Mastersizer 3000 with Hydro MV Dispersion Unit	18
2.3	Progression of characteristic particle sizes of the nanosuspensions as a function of time under different milling conditions of bead loading and pump rate. All suspensions milled used a stable formulation of 10%ITZ, 2.5%HPC-SL, and 0.2%SDS	21
3.1	Rotavapor setup for drying nanosuspensions using feed and bleed method	28
3.2	Nanocomposite after scraping with Chem-spin and spatula (left). Mortar and Pestle (MP) (top right), Chem-spin (left of MP), and spatula used to scrape round bottom flasks (bottom right) (right)	29
3.3	HELOS/KR Laser with RODOS Dispersion Unit	30
4.1	Redispersion apparatus with overhead stirrer	38
4.2	Round bottom flasks at the end of scraping. Higher clarity correlated to an easily processed and recovered nanocomposite. Flask on the left formulation with additional 5%VA 64 and flask on the right containing additional 2.5%F-127 a PEG containing triblock copolymer	46
4.3	ITZ dissolution from nanocomposites compared to physical mixture and rotary evaporated suspension without milling. All formulations are based on having 10%ITZ- 2.5%HPC-SL-2.5%F-127-0.2%SDS aside from as-received ITZ and spray-dried nanocomposite which only has 10%ITZ- 2.5%HPC-SL-0.2%SDS. PM is a physical mixture. Un-milled was rotary evaporated without milling. Nano-milled was milled and dried on the rotary evaporator. Spray-dried nanocomposite and as-received ITZ data were obtained from (Bilgili et al., 2018).	48
4.4	Dissolution at 2.5% additional dispersant over baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS. Nanocomposite particle size for reference is recorded next to each formulation in the legend. Spray-dried nanocomposite data were taken from (Bilgili et al., 2018). The formulation of the spray-dried nanocomposite was that of the baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS.	51

# LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

# Figure

#### Page

4.5 Dissolution comparison of spray-dried vs. rotary evaporated 53 nanocomposites. Nanocomposite particle size for reference is recorded next to each formulation in the legend. Spray-dried nanocomposite data were taken from (Bilgili et al., 2018). The formulation of the spray-dried nanocomposite was that of the baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS and other contained an additional 2.5% of their respective dispersant.

#### **CHAPTER 1**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

#### **1.1 Motivation**

In the pipeline a large percentage, about 40%, of newly developed drugs fall under poorly water-soluble due to high molecular weight and hydrophobicity (Lipinski, 2002). Due to their poor water solubility, a slow dissolution can lead to low bioavailability, which is not conducive to developing effective therapeutic medicines (Fasano, 1998). Widely used methods of combating the slow dissolution rates of these drugs include the implementation of nanoparticle formation, amorphous solid dispersions, changing active particle surface properties, and co-crystals (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Jeong & Park, 2008; Niwa & Danjo, 2013; Serajuddin, 1999; Yadav et al., 2009). These strategies all focused on the enhancement of bioavailability through the manipulation of the drug particle size/surface area or its solid-state. Most notably, the use of nanoparticles generated through wet stirred media milling in the form of nanosuspensions has continued to be a reliable method of increasing the drug dissolution rate to this day with approved FDA drugs (Malamatari et al., 2018). However, as solid dosage forms such as tablets, capsules, etc. are preferred by patients over liquid dosage forms due the convenience of the former, drug nanosuspensions must be dried into nanocomposite powder prior to their incorporation into the solid dosages. To dry these nanoparticle suspensions, techniques such as spray drying (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Rahman et al., 2019), fluidized bed coating (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Chaubal & Popescu, 2008; Vogt et al., 2008), and lyophilization (Kim & Lee, 2010; Tuomela et al., 2015) have been widely used. All

methods aim at evaporation of a solvent from the suspension leaving behind a solid composite. A rotary evaporator that can apply vacuum and heating to a suspension has not been used to prepare nanocomposites from wet media milled drugs before, which is in the scope of this thesis work.

#### **1.1.1 Drug Nanosuspensions**

Within the literature, drug nanosuspensions have been a focal point to enhancing the bioavailability of poorly water-soluble drugs (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018). In the pharmaceutical nanotechnology literature, drug nanosuspensions refer to aqueous solution of various dispersants in which insoluble colloidal and truly nanosized particles all having the particle size of less than  $1\mu m$  in size are suspended. The dispersants such as polymers and surfactants dissolve in water and provide physical stability to the nanocrystals by preventing their aggregation (Junghanns & Muller, 2008). The desire to generate a nanosuspension comes from the dissolution enhancement stemming from the larger surface area of milled particles (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018). The most common and widely used method of milling a suspension is wet stirred media milling (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018; Malamatari et al., 2018; Schenck et al., 2019). This can be seen in Table 1.1 of FDA approved drugs produced by wet stirred media milling. The technique for particle size reduction is beneficial in its ability to have a continuous stirred process that can be cooled with the assistance of a jacket for sensitive drug compounds compared to that of other techniques (i.e. LabRAM milling) (Bilgili et al., 2018; Li, Zhang, et al., 2016). The wet media milling can be setup in batch mode or in continuous recirculation mode in which the suspension recirculated through the media chamber filled with beads facilitating the breakage of suspended drug particles and a holding tank (A. Bhakay et al., 2014).

Soluble polymers have been widely used as stabilizers in drug nanosuspensions and film formers in drug nanocomposites (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018; Li, Lopez, et al., 2016). The polymer's molecular weight, its adsorption onto drug surfaces, and viscosity could have an impact on the extent of aggregation in drug nanosuspensions (Bilgili et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2008). This impact will also show upon redispersion of nanocomposites in various liquids once nanocomposites are formed (Bhakay et al., 2013). In addition, surfactants could enhance physical stability of the drug nanosuspensions and wettability of the nanocomposites, but its use could pose some challenges during storage (Li, Azad, et al., 2016; Li, Lopez, et al., 2016; Müllertz et al., 2010). This is due to the micellar solubilization of the drug nanoparticles which exists at higher concentrations and leads to Ostwald ripening (Ghosh et al., 2011; Verma et al., 2011). Although the benefits of surfactant use in formulations are present, its use should be minimized to reduce the instability during long term storage and the Ostwald ripening which could occur during storage and processing of composites.

Trade name	Company	Active substance	Indication	Particle Size Reduction Method	Route	Dosage Form	Year approved
Avinza <sup>b</sup>	King Pharma	Morphine sulfate	Pain medication	WMM	Oral	Capsule	2002
Emend <sup>a</sup>	Merck	Aprepitant	Antiemetic	WMM	Oral	Capsule	2003
Focalin XR <sup>b</sup>	Novartis	Dexmethylphenidate HCl	ADHD	WMM	Oral	Capsule	2001
Megace ES <sup>a</sup>	Par Pharmaceutical	Megestrol acetate	Appetite stimulant	WMM	Oral	Suspension	2005
Rapamune <sup>a</sup>	Wyeth	Sirolimus (rapamycin)	Immunosuppressant	WMM	Oral	Suspension, Tablet	2000
Ritalin La <sup>b</sup>	Novartis	Methylphenidate HCl	ADHD	WMM	Oral	Capsule	2002
Tricor <sup>a</sup>	Abbott	Fenofibrate	Hypercholesterolemia	WMM	Oral	Tablet	2004
Zanaflex <sup>b</sup>	Acorda	Tizanidine HCl	Muscle relaxant	WMM	Oral	Capsule	2002

 Table 1.1 Media Milled FDA Approved Drugs

<sup>a</sup>Based on (Verma & Burgess, 2009). <sup>b</sup>Based on (Shegokar & Müller, 2010).

#### **1.1.2 Drug Nanocomposites**

Despite the simplicity of generating a nanosuspension, generating a nanocomposite becomes a much more difficult task. The milled nanoparticles within the suspension will tend to aggregate if they are not stabilized with the appropriate dispersants either immediately, after milling, or during storage (Li, Zhang, et al., 2016). This is due to the Brownian motion that will cause nearby particles to aggregate together within a suspension (Lee, 2003). These forces are typically at play when the suspension is in storage, where nanoparticles could settle and collide with one another leading to aggregation dictated by van der Waals forces (Napper, 1970). Additional phenomena such as Ostwald ripening could also occur when the differences in drug solubility of differently sized particles could cause the dissolved drug to deposit onto larger drug particles causing growth over time (Verma et al., 2011). Due to these competing forces during the storage of the suspension, the importance of stabilizing dispersants and the proper downstream processing are required. As importantly, oral solid dosage forms of a drug are a preferred delivery over that of suspensions. That requires the wet media milled nanosuspensions to be dried into composites which will ultimately be used within a solid dosage unit. This can be performed using spray drying (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Rahman et al., 2019), fluidized bed coating (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Chaubal & Popescu, 2008; Vogt et al., 2008), spray-freeze drying (Niwa & Danjo, 2013), freeze drying (Kim & Lee, 2010; Tuomela et al., 2015) and vacuum drying (Choi et al., 2008; Kim & Lee, 2010). Each drying method has its own pros/cons and poses unique challenges when generating drug nanocomposites.

Furthermore, it should be mentioned that not only do the dispersants affect physical stability of the nanosuspensions, but also they affect the redispersibility of the nanocomposites and drug release from them when they are dissolved *in vivo* or *in vitro* (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bhakay et al., 2013; Bilgili et al., 2018; Li, Lopez, et al., 2016). The redispersibility of drug nanocomposites, referring to their ability to release drug nanoparticles, could be an important metric in the development of drug nanocomposites (Bhakay et al., 2013; Bilgili et al., 2018) besides the widely used dissolution tests. It is hypothesized that nanocomposite particle size and type/loading of the dispersants could affect the redispersion as well as drug release during *in vitro* dissolution tests. This led to the investigation of different polymer and surfactant combinations to discover the impact on nanoparticle recovery (Bhakay et al., 2013).

#### **1.2 Background and Challenges**

#### **1.2.1** Impact of Dispersants on Nanosuspension Stability

Although nanoparticle suspensions from wet media milling have shown to be effective in dissolution enhancement of poorly water-soluble drugs (Azad et al., 2016; Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Norbert Rasenack, 2002), aggregation and physical stability need to be addressed for a proper nanosuspension to be made. To that end, dispersants such as polymers, surfactants, sugars, and other stabilizers are used in nanosuspensions (Azad et al., 2016; Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Choi et al., 2008; Ghosh et al., 2011; Van Eerdenbrugh et al., 2008). Unfortunately, the concentration required to achieve the desired stability can negatively affect the total drug concentration within a given formulation leading to low drug formulations and larger tablet sizes (Bilgili et al.,

2018). Furthermore, despite the required stability while as a suspension, during drying aggregation can also occur compromising the composite and leading to poor redispersion and dissolution (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018).

One class of dispersants, surfactants, have been widely used throughout literature to enhance drug wettability and provide electrostatic stabilization (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018; Bilgili et al., 2018; Li, Lopez, et al., 2016). Although they are great stabilizers they are not without faults, in that suspensions with surfactants are susceptible to growth from Ostwald ripening during milling and extended storage (Verma et al., 2011). To combat this phenomenon, a combination of polymers and surfactants can be used to mitigate the issues associated with a surfactant only formulation while retaining some beneficial properties of a formulation containing a surfactant (Bilgili et al., 2018; Li, Lopez, et al., 2016; Müllertz et al., 2010).

Another method of achieving a stable nanosuspension would be with the use of surfactant-free formulations (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014), where water soluble polymers would make up the complete stability of the nanosuspension without the increased risk of Ostwald ripening from surfactant. Examples of water-soluble polymers range from hydroxypropyl cellulose (HPC), polyvinylpyrrolidone (PVP), polyethylene glycol (PEG), Kollidon VA 64 (VA 64), and Pluronic which have been used without the addition of surfactants to stabilize nanosuspensions (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Fu et al., 2013). The addition of these polymers to stabilize nanosuspensions has been studied by individuals using drying techniques such as spray drying (Bilgili et al., 2018), fluidized bed coating (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014), and freeze drying (Fu et al., 2013), but none utilizing a rotary evaporator, which will require further investigation into the ability

of polymers to stabilize the nanosuspension through the drying process as that poses a risk to aggregated composites which will disperse and dissolve very poorly.

Itraconazole (ITZ), a model antifungal drug, has been used to model BCS Class II drugs that have characteristic high permeability, but poor water solubility 0.002µg/ml (Ghazal et al., 2009). Multiple research groups have investigated nanoparticle suspensions of ITZ and their progression through a variety of drying studies including fluidized bed coating, freeze drying, and spray drying, respectively (Azad et al., 2016; Badawi et al., 2011; Bilgili et al., 2018). None has investigated the rotary evaporation of ITZ nanosuspension which will bring its own challenges of suspension aggregation and method development.

#### **1.2.2** Comparison of Different Drying Methods

Drug nanosuspensions are precursors in the preparation of drug nanocomposites; they are dried to form nanocomposites to be integrated into final solid dosage forms that are preferred delivery route for therapeutics (Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018; Malamatari et al., 2018; Shegokar & Müller, 2010; Verma & Burgess, 2009). As such, generating these nanocomposites can be done using spray drying (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Rahman et al., 2019), fluidized bed coating (Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Chaubal & Popescu, 2008; Vogt et al., 2008), spray-freeze drying (Niwa & Danjo, 2013), freeze drying (Kim & Lee, 2010; Tuomela et al., 2015) and vacuum drying (Choi et al., 2008; Kim & Lee, 2010) to name a few widely used drying techniques. Each has their own pros/cons. For example, the ability to rapidly dry, prevent microbial growth, eliminate degradation of heat-sensitive compounds, and have rapid reconstitution times for parenteral drugs are all characteristic of freeze drying (Khairnar et al., 2012). However, the

method of freeze drying is extremely costly and it is not conducted as a continuous process (Khairnar et al., 2012). With fluidized bed coating, an effective drying with high thermal efficiency and control over temperature makes it ideal for sensitive compounds, but produces composites with low drug loading due to the use of a substrate and does not process unique particles with needle like morphology (Chua & Chou, 2005). Moreover, preparing nanocomposites with high drug loading (>50%) is very time consuming and costly.

Spray drying has many benefits toward drying of suspensions into composites, that includes the cost effective nature of spray drying, the ability to scale from the lab to industrial manufacturing with ease and the wide array of applications that has already been applied using a spray drying as the method of drying composites (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Chaubal & Popescu, 2008; Jain et al., 2012; Poozesh & Bilgili, 2019; Rahman et al., 2019). The disadvantages of a spray drying approach to drying suspensions results from the relatively low bulk density (due to high Peclet number during evaporation) and poor flowability of the spray-dried powder. Moreover, the particles having an inflated shell morphology can pose a risk to tablet cracking from differential density zones leading to elastic recoil and stress relief (Eiliazadeh et al., 2003; Vehring, 2008).

Thin Film Evaporator (TFE) has recently made its appearance into the pharmaceutical industry to aid in the continuous production of composites (Lee et al., 2020). A TFE is traditionally found within the food industry and is used to concentrate a liquid or suspension stream for use in products such as the dairy industry for skim milk or orange concentrates where a short contact time with a heated surface does not degrade the product being concentrated (Tanguy et al., 2015; Tateo, 1990). The TFE contains a rotating

assemble within a heated barrel that is under a vacuum to aid in driving off the solvent from the process stream, thus concentrating and drying the incoming solution or suspension (Lee et al., 2020). The "thin film" refers to the thickness of the traveling stream through the unit between the barrel and rotating assemble which is scraped and moved along the barrel to maintain a constant film of about 0.5 mm that will make for higher surface area and easy evaporation of solvent from the stream (Lee et al., 2020). These characteristics of a TFE are great conditions for the concentration of solutions and suspensions, but if taken one step forward under higher temperatures and shorter residence time through the barrel, one can use the TFE to generate dried composites like those produced by a spray dryer. Due to this, the use and application of TFE can be very beneficial in generating composites as an alternative to spray drying as a continuous processing unit.

To study this technology within the lab, a bench scale analogous unit to generate a thin film under vacuum and varying temperature was sought after as an alternative running the TFE at manufacturing scale. The rotary evaporator which consists of a spinning round bottom flask placed in a temperature-controlled bath under vacuum was chosen to simulate the drying kinetics in a TFE. The use of a rotary evaporator creates a thin film within a round bottom flask that is like that of a TFE. In literature, the use of a rotary evaporator has been used on distillation or drying of non-pharmaceutical drugs (Zhong et al., 2016). The implementation of a rotary evaporator has only recently made its way to being used for the drying of pharmaceuticals (Gade et al., 2020; Saboo et al., 2020).

#### **1.2.3 Redispersion and Drug Release from Nanocomposites**

Testing of drug nanocomposites must be conducted to establish the impact of formulation-process variables in vitro before further studies are conducted in vivo. To do so, redispersion and dissolution are traditional methods for testing the effects of formulations before in vivo studies are conducted (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018; Ghazal et al., 2009; Jackson et al., 2016; Li, 2017; Norbert Rasenack, 2002; Van Eerdenbrugh et al., 2008). Bhakay et al. (2018b) demonstrated that redispersion testing could be useful for the characterization of nanocomposites ability to disperse nanoparticles into an aqueous media (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bhakay, Rahman, et al., 2018). Multiple groups conducted studies involving dissolution testing as the method of characterizing the differences in formulations and their performance on enhancing the therapeutic delivery (Azad et al., 2016; Anagha Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018; Jackson et al., 2016; Norbert Rasenack, 2002; Van Eerdenbrugh et al., 2008). Although dissolution testing is a staple of understanding the performance of a formulation, it does not predict the *in vivo* performance. Hence, the use of redispersion testing could complement our understanding of nanocomposites; which may be more discerning than traditional dissolution tests and more representative of the *in vivo* conditions (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bhakay et al., 2013).

#### **1.3 Objectives**

The specific objectives of this research are to:

- Develop an understanding of the impacts of the polymers on the particle size and stability of wet-milled drug suspensions and prepare a suitable precursor drug nanosuspension for use in the rotary evaporation studies.
- 2. Examine the effects of varying drying conditions on the preparation of rotary evaporated nanocomposites.
- 3. Investigate different processing methods to generate repeatable and consistent nanocomposites.
- 4. Discern the impact of different polymers/surfactants on the reconstitution of nanoparticles from nanocomposites (redispersion).
- 5. Analyze the effect of polymers/surfactants on drug release from the rotary evaporated nanocomposites vs. spray-dried nanocomposites

#### **1.4 Thesis Outline**

This thesis has been structured into the following chapters. Chapter 2 examines the milling of itraconazole, and the impact different polymers have on the stability of suspension. The use of different polymers to improve on formulation stability and assist with aggregation was demonstrated in this chapter. In Chapter 3, the drying of nanosuspensions using a rotary evaporator will continue to evaluate formulations and use of polymers to prevent aggregation in the transition from a suspension to a powder. The processing conditions and the addition of post processing homogenization was explored in Chapter 3. For Chapter 4, an emphasis on the redispersion was conducted to study the recovery of nanoparticles from

generated nanocomposites produced by the rotary evaporator and supporting dissolution data was generated to show the relationship of redispersion to that of dissolution. Finally, Chapter 5 will provide the summary from this body of work as well as the recommendations and thoughts for future work that will build off this thesis.

#### **CHAPTER 2**

#### NANOSUSPENSIONS PREPARATION AND CHARACTERIZATION

We investigate the impact of different polymers on the preparation of wet-milled suspensions of itraconazole (ITZ). Suspensions were milled using a Netzsch Minicer wet media mill to prepare ITZ nanosuspensions. Different classes of polymers were added to an existing stable drug nanosuspension to assist in downstream processing. The use of hydroxypropyl cellulose SL grade, polyvinylpyrrolidone K30, polyethylene glycol 3350, Kollidon VA64, and Pluronic F-127 were all explored as water-soluble polymers to aid in processing of nanosuspensions. These polymers all contributed to different characteristics of the suspension and changed the properties of downstream nanocomposites that will be discussed in the subsequent chapters. In this chapter, a focus on the preparation of stable ITZ nanosuspension and formulation will be done.

#### 2.1 Materials and Methods

#### 2.1.1 Materials

Itraconazole (ITZ) was purchased from Green Chempharm Inc. (Bardonia, NY, USA). Solubility of ITZ in deionized water is 0.002 µg/ml (Ghazal et al., 2009), which makes it a model Biopharmaceutical Classification System (BCS) Class II drug. Hydroxypropyl cellulose SL grade (HPC SL) with a molecular weight of 100 kg/mol was obtained from Nisso America Inc. (New York, NY, USA). Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA). Polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP K30) with a molecular weight of 50 kg/mol was purchased from AppliChem GmbHP (Darmstadt, Germany). Polyethylene Glycol 3350 (PEG 3350) with a molecular weight of 3350 g/mol was obtained from Spectrum Chemical MFG Corp. (Gardena, CA, USA). Kollidon VA64 (VA64) with an average molecular weight of 57,500 g/mol was purchased from BASF (Lampertheim, Germany). Pluronic F-127 (F-127) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA). Yttrium-stabilized zirconia, which is highly wear resistant, with a nominal size of 400 µm was purchased from Norstone Inc. (Bridgeport, PA, USA).

#### 2.1.2 Formulations and Wet Stirred Media Milling

All formulations used in the study for the preparation of suspensions are presented in Table 2.1. The percentages of dispersants within each formulation are on a w/w basis with respect to the total weight of deionized water (300 g). In each formulation, an ITZ percentage was kept at 10%. The basis for all formulations stems from a known effective suspension composition of 10% ITZ–2.5% HPC-SL–0.2% SDS, which has been shown to produce nanocomposites and stabilize ITZ after milling (Bilgili et al., 2018).

		Suspension content		
Polymer type/grade	MW <sup>a</sup> (g/mol)	Polymer (% w/w) <sup>b</sup>	SDS (% w/w) <sup>b</sup>	
HPC SL	100,000	2.5	0.2	
HPC SL	100,000	5	0.2	
HPC SL	100,000	7.5	0.2	
HPC SL	100,000	10	0.2	
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:1)	100,000/ 65,000	5	0.2	
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:2)	100,000/ 65,000	7.5	0.2	
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:3)	100,000/ 65,000	10	0.2	
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:1)	100,000/ 3,350	5	0.2	
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:2)	100,000/ 3,350	7.5	0.2	
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:3)	100,000/ 3,350	10	0.2	
HPC SL/ VA64(1:1)	100,000/ 57,500	5	0.2	
HPC SL/VA64 (1:2)	100,000/ 57,500	7.5	0.2	
HPC SL/VA64 (1:3)	100,000/ 57,500	10	0.2	
HPC SL/F-127 (3.6:1)	100,000/ 12,600	3.2	0.2	
HPC SL/F-127 (1:1)	100,000/ 12,600	5	0.2	
HPC SL/F-127 (1:2)	100,000/ 12,600	7.5	0.2	

Table 2.1 Formulations of the Milled Suspensions

<sup>a</sup> MW is Molecular Weight of the polymers.

<sup>b</sup>All suspensions have 10% ITZ. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

An overhead mixer (Chemglass, CG-2051-020, Vineland, NJ) was setup over an 800 ml beaker to disperse the ITZ particles and other excipients. The suspension was then transferred over to a holding tank on the Netzsch wet stirred media mill (Minicer, Netzsch, Selb, Germany) (Figure 2.1). Milling conditions were adapted from previous milling study using the Netzsch Microcer conditions of 196 g bead loading and 126 ml/min recirculation rate (Bilgili et al., 2018). Milling conditions explored included the 160 ml chamber filled between 343–525 g of 0.4 mm zirconia beads and a screen orientation of 0.15 mm. The suspension was recirculated through the milling chamber at a rate between 189–252 mL/min with a Masterflex L/S peristaltic pump (Radnor, PA, USA) and C-Flex L/S 17 tubing while milled at a rotor speed of 4000 rpm over a time of 65 min. The milling chamber and holding tank were both cooled by a chiller (Huber Unistat 405w, Huber,

Offenburg, Germany) to maintain the temperature of the suspension below 33 °C. Particle size was taken at various time points to track the progression of milling over time. Suspensions were saved in a fridge at 4.4 °C before drying.



Figure 2.1 Schematic of Netzsch Media mill in the recirculation mode (left) and photograph of the setup in the laboratory (right).

#### 2.1.3 Particle Size Analysis

Particle size distribution (PSD) of all samples was performed by Mastersizer 3000 laser diffraction particle size analyzer with Hydro MV cell (Malvern Panalytical, United Kingdom) using red and blue light and a detection range of 0.01 µm to 3500 µm (Figure 2.2). Dispersant cell was set at a stir rate of 1500 rpm and sonicated for 30 s at 60% intensity. Mie scattering theory was used to compute the volume-based distribution with a refractive index of 1.68 for ITZ and 1.33 for deionized water (Bilgili et al., 2018). An alignment of the system followed by a background measurement of 10 s for red and 10 s for blue light was taken before each set of readings. Three measurements averaged were taken and reported. Method used was set around repeatable results from measurement to measurement on various samples following ISO model within the Malvern Software. During measurement, the sample was added until obscuration fell between the ranges of 3

to 8%. Suspensions were measured during milling as well as prior to drying to ensure that all suspensions retained their PSD.



Figure 2.2 Mastersizer 3000 with Hydro MV Dispersion Unit.

# 2.1.4 Nanosuspensions with Additional Dispersants

The baseline nanosuspension consisted of 10% ITZ, 2.5% HPC-SL, and 0.2% SDS. A third (soluble) dispersant or additional HPC-SL was added to the existing stable nanosuspension to generate more nanosuspensions to test for drying and modulate the redispersibility/drug release from the nanocomposites. The help of a stir bar within a secondary vial was used to mix the nanosuspension with the additional dispersant to completely dissolve it in the nanosuspension. For each formulation above baseline, mentioned in Table 2.1, this was
performed, and the PSD of the following intermediate suspension was also measured by laser diffraction to confirm particle size from the nanosuspension was preserved prior to drying ensuring no aggregation occurred during production and storage. In general, all samples were prepared and dried within 7 days of preparing the suspension to reduce the risk of aggregation over time as previous studies have demonstrated (Bilgili et al., 2018; Rahman et al., 2019).

#### 2.2 Results and Discussion

## 2.2.1 Particle Breakage During Wet Media Milling

As-received ITZ particles had a median size  $D_{50}$  of 15.5 µm and 90% passing size of  $D_{90}$ 45.8 µm, as measured via Rodos/Helos laser diffraction system (Bilgili et al., 2018). The suspension with the baseline formulation (10%ITZ, 2.5%HPC-SL, and 0.2%SDS) was milled for a total time of 65 min with the goal to produce a nanosuspension all particles below 1 µm, preferably with a median size below 200 nm, to ensure that significant dissolution enhancement can be achieved from the nanocomposites. Figure 2.3 illustrates the time-wise evolution of characteristic particle sizes, i.e., the median drug particle size  $D_{50}$ , 90% passing particle size  $D_{90}$ , and the cumulative volume percentage of colloidal/nanoparticles Q (1 µm) for multiple milling runs of which were performed with the same formulation under different conditions. All runs exhibited monotonic decrease in  $D_{50}$  and  $D_{90}$  and increase in Q (1 µm), which suggests particle breakage is the dominant mechanism, and severe aggregation of the milled particles did not occur, showing the feasibility of the baseline formulation. The sizes tended to approach a  $D_{50}$  of ~0.130 µm and a  $D_{90}$  of ~0.330 µm. This corresponds to a remarkable size reduction ratio of ~120 based on  $D_{50}$ , which is hard to achieve in any other size reduction equipment.

Although most milling conditions did not show drastic changes in the final milled particle sizes, the total experimental effort/time was affected due to excessive heat generation from the higher bead loading condition and associated multiple shutdowns of the mill to maintain the suspension temperature below 33 °C set limit. Ultimately, running at a 2x bead loading of 392 g and a 1.5x pump rate of 189 ml/min for the suspension volume of 300 ml were the best conditions for milling with the Minicer chamber. A very similar PSD to that of higher bead loading was achieved as well as a complete nanoparticle suspension which required few shutdowns of the mill and contributed to a great milling experience.



**Figure 2.3** Progression of characteristic particle sizes of the nanosuspensions as a function of time under different milling conditions of bead loading and pump rate. All suspensions milled used a stable formulation of 10%ITZ, 2.5%HPC-SL, and 0.2%SDS.

## 2.2.2 Nanosuspension Stability and Dispersant Analysis

Let us now transition to examination of the impact of additional dispersant. After the preparation of the baseline nanosuspension (10%ITZ, 2.5%HPC-SL, and 0.2%SDS), which is prepared fresh for each final formulation, a third dispersant or additional HPC-SL was dissolved in the nanosuspension to prepare the final makeup of the formulation. Since each additional dispersant was water soluble, little to no change in the particle size of the starting suspension was to be expected. To confirm this hypothesis, the particle sizes of each final suspension was measured again to compare with the particle sizes of the baseline nanosuspension. These values can be seen in Table 2.2 for the particle size of each suspension after milling followed by the measurement after the addition of each dispersant.

Sugnancian	Particl	e size post 1	nilling	Particle size post formulating/stability verification <sup>b</sup>		
Formulation <sup>a</sup>	$\begin{array}{cccc} \text{Formulation}^{a} & D_{50}\pm\text{S} & D_{90}\pm\text{S} & Q \\ & D & D & (1\mu\text{m}) & D_{50}\pm \\ & (\mu\text{m}) & (\mu\text{m}) & (\%) & (\mu\text{m}) \end{array}$	$D_{50\pm}$ SD $(\mu m)$	D <sub>90</sub> ±S D (µm)	Q (1µm) ±SD (%)		
2.5%HPC-SL	0.132± 0.00	0.316± 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.135± 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.345 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	99.93± 0.00
5%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.143 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.379± 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 98.65 \pm \\ 0.02 \end{array}$
7.5%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.316\pm\\0.00}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.148 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.405 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	99.06± 0.03
10%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.316± 0.00	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.152 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.414 \pm \\ 0.02}$	99.63± 0.53
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.133 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.328\pm\\0.02}$	$100\pm$ 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.316± 0.00	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.139 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.346 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.316± 0.00	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.145 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.383 \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	99.16± 0.49
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%PEG 3350	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	0.130± 0.00	$\substack{0.322\pm\\0.01}$	$100\pm$ 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%PEG 3350	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.133 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.336 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%PEG 3350	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	0.316± 0.00	$100\pm 0.00$	0.146± 0.01	$\begin{array}{c} 0.379 \pm \\ 0.03 \end{array}$	99.29± 0.62
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%VA 64	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.138 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.385\pm\\0.08}$	98.01± 2.19
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%VA 64	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.134 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.334\pm\\0.00}$	$100\pm$ 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%VA 64	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.316\pm\\0.00}$	$100\pm 0.00$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.137 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.351 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$99.98 \pm \\ 0.03$

**Table 2.2** Nanosuspension PSD After Milling and Formulating: Stability Post Processing

2.5%HPC-SL/ 0.7%F-127	$\substack{0.132\pm\\0.00}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.137 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.342 \pm \\ 0.01 \end{array}$	100± 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%F-127	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	$\substack{0.132\pm\\0.01}$	$\substack{0.325\pm\\0.02}$	100± 0.00
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%F-127	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm 0.00$	0.136± 0.00°	$\begin{array}{c} 0.337 \pm \\ 0.00^{\rm c} \end{array}$	100± 0.00 <sup>c</sup>

<sup>a</sup>All suspensions have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g). <sup>b</sup>Intermediate suspensions with additional dispersants were prepared and dried within 7 days of suspension nanomilling.

<sup>e</sup>Particle size measured 12 days after preparation for long term stability.

The first three columns of Table 2.2 show almost identical particle sizes, within a few percent, because they correspond to the freshly prepared nanosuspensions with the baseline formulation, which demonstrates the reproducibility of the wet stirred media milling process. The last three columns correspond to particle sizes of the baseline suspensions after the supplement of a new dispersant or additional HPC-SL. Except for HPC-SL at higher concentrations, the addition of different dispersants led to <10% increase in  $D_{50}$  and up to 25% increase in  $D_{90}$ . HPC-SL add to highest increase: up to 15% in  $D_{50}$  and up to 31% increase in  $D_{90}$ . While these increases are statistically significant (due to 0.0% SD of most laser diffraction measurements), the nanosuspensions remained colloidal; all final nanosuspensions had  $D_{50}$  below 150 nm and  $D_{90}$  below 400 nm, except the 10% HPC-SL nanosuspension.

With formulations containing F-127, a triblock copolymer (a polymeric surfactant), the stability was tested up to 12 days after preparation with 5% concentration. This was done to show stability and investigate Ostwald ripening which can occur at concentrations above the critical micellization concentration (CMC) as is the case with formulations containing more than 0.7% F-127 (Alexandridis et al., 1994; Knieke et al., 2013). Looking

at the particle size of the formulated suspension in Table 2.2, one can see there was no significant growth to the nanoparticles during the extended hold time that would be cause for concern with Ostwald ripening. Overall, each formulation was successful in generating and maintaining a nanosuspension that can and will be used for further downstream processing.

# 2.3 Conclusions

This study has demonstrated a successful scale-up of wet media milling of ITZ suspensions from the Netzsch Microcer mill to the Netzsch Minicer mill. All the milling conditions tested, from low to high bead loading as well as low to high pump rate showed there was an achievable sweet spot which allowed for similar particle size reduction as compared to that of high bead loading conditions. This allows for reasonable milling times to produce the nanosuspensions without costly time spent on milling. The conditions utilizing a chamber fill of 392 g of beads and a recirculation rate of 189 ml/min returned the best balance of heat generation and total milling time to generate the nanosuspension. The baseline formulation (10% ITZ, 2.5% HPC-SL, and 0.2% SDS) enabled suppression of severe aggregation. Addition of other dispersants or extra HPC did not cause a drastic size increase during the storage (before drying). In most of the formulations, ITZ suspensions with D<sub>50</sub> below 150 nm and D<sub>90</sub> below 400 nm were formed. The addition of the polymeric surfactant (Pluronic F-127) above CMC did not impact particle size growth in short term. Overall, all these nanosuspensions can be used in the drying process as precursor to nanocomposites.

## **CHAPTER 3**

# NANOCOMPOSITES AND IMPACT OF PROCESSING: A DIFFERENT WAY OF PRODUCING NANOCOMPOSITES

In Chapter 2, itraconazole (ITZ) nanosuspensions with various polymers/surfactants were prepared successfully by a wet stirred media milling process. Here, we prepared drug nanocomposites, using the drug nanosuspensions as precursor, via a new evaporative isolation method of rotary evaporation. These nanocomposites were collected from the round bottom flask in the system and processing via mortar and pestle was performed to homogenize the dried nanocomposites. In addition, different ways of introducing the nanosuspension to the flask were explored to study the impact of a distillation approach compared to that of a feed and bleed with shots of suspension being fed into the round bottom flask while under full vacuum. The combination of different processing methods led to significant insights into the drying of drug nanosuspensions using the rotary evaporator.

#### **3.1 Materials and Methods**

# 3.1.1 Materials

Itraconazole (ITZ) was purchased from Green Chempharm Inc. (Bardonia, NY, USA). Hydroxypropyl cellulose SL grade (HPC SL) with a molecular weight of 100 kg/mol was obtained from Nisso America Inc. (New York, NY, USA). Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA). Polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP K30) with a molecular weight of 50 kg/mol was purchased from AppliChem GmbH (Darmstadt, Germany). Polyethylene Glycol 3350 (PEG 3350) with a molecular weight of 3350 g/mol was obtained from Spectrum Chemical MFG Corp. (Gardena, CA, USA). Kollidon VA64 (VA64) with an average molecular weight of 57,500 g/mol was purchased from BASF (Lampertheim, Germany). Pluronic F-127 (F-127) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA).

#### 3.1.2 Formation of Nanocomposites via Rotary Evaporation

The milled prepared ITZ suspensions with added dispersants (refer to Chapter 2) were dried within 7 days of preparation and storage using a Rotavapor R-300 (Buchi, New Castle, DE, USA). The unit was either run in batch distillation mode where suspensions were placed within a round bottom flask and "distilled" dry by having the bath temperature set at 60 °C and a vacuum below 300 mmHg absolute was pulled until suspension appeared to be dry, evident of no condensation forming on the cold finger of the Rotavapor followed by a 10min hold under 3 mmHg to continue drying the nanocomposite. Alternatively, the Rotavapor was operated in feed and bleed mode where suspension was fed into the round bottom via a tube with a valve while under a vacuum of 3 mmHg absolute and a bath temperature of 90 °C (Figure 3.1). Bursts of suspension were fed until the entire prepared suspension was processed and condensation stopped followed by additional drying for 10 mins to ensure complete evaporation of water.



Figure 3.1 Rotavapor setup for drying nanosuspensions using feed and bleed method.

# **3.1.3 Processing Rotary Evaporated Nanocomposites**

Rotary evaporated nanocomposites adhered to the round bottom flasks were scrapped off using a combination of a Chem-spin scraper tool on a handheld drill (Chemglass, Vineland, NJ, USA) and a spatula (Figure 3.2right). The Chem-spin scraper was first used to collect the bulk of solids from within the round bottom flask followed by manual scraping with a spatula for collecting the last bit of solids. The collected nanocomposite samples were then transferred over to a mortar (Figure 3.2right). to be ground with medium to light pressure for 5 min, thus improving the homogeneity of each sample.



**Figure 3.2** Nanocomposite after scraping with Chem-spin and spatula (left). Mortar and Pestle (MP) (top right), Chem-spin (left of MP), and spatula used to scrape round bottom flasks (bottom right) (right).

# **3.1.4 Particle Sizing**

Particle size of nanocomposites was measured by HELOS/KR laser diffraction sensor in combination with the RODOS dispersion unit (Sympatec, Pennington, NJ, USA) running Fraunhofer theory. Three measurements were averaged to obtain a stable reading. Each sample went onto the vibratory chute set at 65% intensity and a dispersion pressure of 1.0 bar was used. To capture the wide variety of PSDs the R6 lens was used for all measurements which had a measurement range of 9–1750 µm (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3 HELOS/KR Laser with RODOS Dispersion Unit.

# **3.2 Results and Discussion**

# **3.2.1** Properties of the Nanocomposites

The previously prepared nanosuspensions from Chapter 2 (Table 2.2) were dried by the Rotavapor to form the nanocomposites. Upon initial investigation of utilizing the equipment, the use of a bath temperature of 60 °C and a distillation approach was first tested using the baseline formulation of 10%ITZ, 2.5% HPC-SL, and 0.2% SDS. This initial test returned a nanocomposite that was very coarse when scraped off the round bottom flask and posed numerous challenges with generating reproduceable particle size readings as well as gathering further downstream data in other analyses. In Table 3.1, we

can see the clear particle size variation in the samples obtained from scraping the nanocomposites off the round bottom flask.

		Nanocomposite Particle Size					
					Volume		
Measurement	Formulation <sup>a</sup>	- ( )	D <sub>50</sub> (µm)	D90 (µm)	Mean		
		$D_{10} (\mu m)$			Distribution		
					(VMD) (µm)		
1	2.5HPC-SL	82.0	240.0	739.0	336.1		
2	2.5HPC-SL	97.0	290.2	731.7	356.2		
3	2.5HPC-SL	150.5	457.6	1372	614.2		
4	2.5HPC-SL	161.4	612.9	1476	747.1		
Ave	erage	122.7	400.2	1080	513.4		
Standard	Deviation	33.9	146.9	346.3	173.9		

 Table 3.1 Particle Sizes of the Nanocomposites from Rotavapor without Further

 Downstream Processing

<sup>a</sup>Baseline precursor nanosuspension contained 10% ITZ 2.5% HPC-SL and 0.2% SDS.

The variations illustrated in Table 3.1 must be eliminated or minimized to generate reproduceable and reliable results. As a result, we augmented the use of the Chem-spin as well as a few minutes of mortar and pestle to the post processing of each rotary evaporated sample. Since mortar and pestle was a very strenuous task on one individual, two time points of 5 min and 10 min was explored. The first time point at 5 min of mortar and pestle, returned a much more homogenous nanocomposite which reflected in the SD of the

measurements performed (Table 3.2). With the additional use of mortar and pestle up to 10 min, a slight improvement was seen over the 5min reading with the  $X_{90}$  SD (Table 3.2). With this data in mind the decision to use 5min of mortar and pestle was carried out for all experiments since 10 min of mortar and pestle was a physically demanding task to be executed for little to no improvement in the overall sample homogeneity.

			Nanocompos	site Particle Si	ize
					Volume
Measu	Measurement <sup>a</sup>		D <sub>50</sub> (µm)	D <sub>90</sub> (µm)	Mean
					Distribution
					(VMD) (µm)
	Average	11.5	91.3	238.0	108.5
5 min	Standard	0.5	47	16.2	5 4
	Deviation	0.5	4.7	10.5	5.4
	Average	9.6	72.6	198.0	90.0
10 min	Standard	0.4	6.0	8.4	5.3
	Deviation				

Table 3.2 Particle Sizes of Nanocomposites after Mortar and Pestle Milling

<sup>a</sup>Baseline precursor nanosuspension contained 10% ITZ 2.5% HPC-SL and 0.2% SDS.

# **3.2.2 Other Drying Challenges**

Let us now examine other challenges that were observed with the use of HPC within the formulations. Even after a homogenous nanocomposite generated upon using a mortar and pestle step, there were still issues with downstream testing and release of nanoparticles

from the nanocomposites. HPC has a very low cloud point of ~40 °C despite its very good solubility at room temperature (Khuman et al., 2014). Hence, the concern for HPC precipitating during the drying of the nanosuspensions was raised when nanoparticle recover was next to nothing. As was shown in a previous study, HPC is crucial to the stability of the nanosuspension (Bilgili et al., 2018). Without it, a nanosuspension cannot be formed or stabilized against the aggregation of ITZ nanoparticles. With the precipitation of HPC at the processing conditions of the Rotavapor, the nanosuspension is allowed to aggregate and show little to no nanoparticle recovery. To this end, a modified approach to drying nanosuspensions was adopted with the prevention of nanoparticle aggregation due to potential HPC precipitation. The goal was to switch from a distillation to one that would not allow the suspension to be dried without heating past the cloud point of HPC. For that to occur, the feed and bleed method was adopted where a tube was passed into the round bottom flask and small bursts of suspension were fed into the flask that was both heated at 90 °C and under 3 mmHg absolute vacuum. This process allows for instantaneous evaporation of the water from the suspension and drying to generate a nanocomposite that would not see a high temperature with the assistance of evaporative cooling. All proceeding suspensions were processed utilizing this technique for the prevention of HPC precipitation followed by the previously mentioned use of a mortar and pestle step to ensure the uniformity of the nanocomposites. All nanosuspension PSDs followed by their respective nanocomposite particle size can be seen in Table 3.3. Due to different types/molecular weight/loadings of the polymers and surfactants and perhaps their complex interactions, the nanocomposite particle sizes varied considerably. The median size D<sub>50</sub> ranged from 62 μm to 288 μm, whereas D<sub>90</sub> ranged from 214 μm to 680 μm. However, the standard

deviation (SD) values in Table 3.3. and the relative standard deviation values (RSD, not shown) were much smaller than that presented in Table 3.1 for the nanocomposite without process optimization. Establishing strong correlations between the nanocomposite particle sizes and polymer properties will likely be difficult. However, in general, addition of a third dispersant (besides HPC-SL and SDS) or additional HPC semes to have resulted in coarser nanocomposite particles although there are trend-breaking formulations.

	Particl	e size post 1	nilling	Nanocomposite Particle size		
Suspension Formulation <sup>a</sup>	D <sub>50</sub> ±S D (µm)	D <sub>90</sub> ±S D (µm)	Q (1µm) ±SD (%)	$D_{50}\pm$ SD ( $\mu$ m)	D <sub>90</sub> ±SD (µm)	VMD ±SD (µm)
2.5%HPC-SL	0.132± 0.00	0.316± 0.00	100± 0.00	66.5± 4.7	186.9± 18.6	85.6±8 .0
5%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	222.4± 22.8	608.0± 73.2	279.0± 30.9
7.5%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.316\pm\\0.00}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	122.0± 4.1	329.0± 8.2	151.9± 4.1
10%HPC-SL	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	287.7± 57.2	679.8± 49.0	335.2± 43.9
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm 0.00$	122.3± 6.5	355.9± 9.4	157.8± 5.5
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm 0.00$	109.6± 12.9	354.3± 30.2	146.5± 10.6
2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%PVP K30	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	108.7± 2.9	395.0± 9.9	161.3± 1.3
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%PEG 3350	0.129± 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	100± 0.00	127.4± 5.7	349.5± 3.7	160.1± 4.1
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%PEG 3350	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	157.1± 10.6	$\begin{array}{c} 386.8 \pm \\ 30.2 \end{array}$	185.4± 13.6
2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%PEG 3350	0.132± 0.00	0.316± 0.00	100± 0.00	133.1± 10.5	417.2± 30.6	181.7± 13.6
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%VA 64	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$100\pm$ 0.00	100.4± 14.1	$\begin{array}{c} 302.2\pm\\ 20.6\end{array}$	133.1± 12.0
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%VA 64	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\substack{0.316\pm\\0.00}$	$100\pm 0.00$	134±6. 6	339±24 .9	167±5. 5

**Table 3.3** Particle Sizes of the Nanosuspensions and the Nanocomposites Prepared via

 Drying (with Feed and Bleed)/Mortar and Pestle Milling

2.5%HPC-SL/ 7.5%VA 64	$\substack{0.132\pm\\0.00}$	0.316± 0.00	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	87.5±3 .0	304.9± 7.9	126.5± 3.1
2.5%HPC-SL/ 0.7%F-127	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	62.0±8 .9	213.9± 28.7	92.0±1 2.7
2.5%HPC-SL/ 2.5%F-127	$\begin{array}{c} 0.129 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.308 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	136.4± 9.0	375.7± 5.7	172.9± 4.5
2.5%HPC-SL/ 5%F-127	$\begin{array}{c} 0.132 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 0.316 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 100 \pm \\ 0.00 \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} 108.1 \pm \\ 10.4 \end{array}$	341.4± 21.7	149.8± 11.4

<sup>a</sup>All suspensions have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

# **3.3 Conclusions**

A robust rotary evaporation (drying) process was developed with feed and bleed type introduction of drug nanosuspensions, followed by mortar and pestle milling of the produced nanocomposites. This approach enabled one to prepare a more relatively homogeneous/uniform nanocomposite powder than that without the optimization of the processing steps. In the redispersion and dissolution tests, some confounding impact of the nanocomposite particle size is to be expected.

## **CHAPTER 4**

# IMPACT OF DISPERSANTS ON DRUG REDISPERSION AND DISSOLUTION

In this chapter, the impact of formulation and drying conditions on the redispersion and dissolution of the drug nanocomposites prepared by the optimized rotary evaporation process is examined. A detailed analysis of the results will elucidate the roles of various types/loadings of the dispersants on the redispersibility and drug release. Based on *in vitro* drug release profiles, the impact of drug particle size and nanocomposite particle size will be scrutinized. Finally, formulations that lead to fast, immediate drug release (80% release in 20 min) during the *in vitro* dissolution will be identified as lead formulations for bioavailability enhancement. It is critical to mention that all labels for the nanocomposites are based on the composition of the respective precursor drug nanosuspensions. All drug nanosuspensions contain a baseline formulation of 10% ITZ, 2.5% HPC-SL, and 0.2% SDS on a wet basis. Obviously, the "dry" nanocomposites do not contain 10% ITZ, for example. Other precursor nanosuspensions were prepared by adding a third dispersant or extra HPC-SL to the baseline nanosuspension. Since all these nanosuspensions contain 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS, their labeling will only mention HPC-SL concentration and the third dispersant concentration (PVP K30, PEG 3350, Kollidon VA64, and Pluronic F-127).

#### 4.1 Materials and Methods

#### 4.1.1 Materials

Itraconazole (ITZ) was purchased from Green Chempharm Inc. (Bardonia, NY, USA). Hydroxypropyl cellulose SL grade (HPC SL) with a molecular weight of 100 kg/mol was obtained from Nisso America Inc. (New York, NY, USA). Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA). Polyvinylpyrrolidone K30 (PVP K30) with a molecular weight of 50 kg/mol was purchased from AppliChem GmbH (Darmstadt, Germany). Polyethylene Glycol 3350 (PEG 3350) with a molecular weight of 3350 g/mol was obtained from Spectrum Chemical MFG Corp. (Gardena, CA, USA). Kollidon VA64 (VA64) with an average molecular weight of 57,500 g/mol was purchased from BASF (Lampertheim, Germany). Pluronic F-127 (F-127) was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (Milwaukee, WI, USA).

## 4.1.2 Redispersion of Nanocomposites

The redispersion of nanocomposites produced by rotary evaporation was performed using the method in (Bilgili et al., 2018). A 50 ml beaker with 30 ml of 3.0 g/L SDS solution was placed under an overhead mixer (Chemglass, CG-2051-020, Vineland, NJ) set at a speed of 400 rpm with a 4 blade 25 mm downward pitched impeller on a Mettler Toledo stir shaft (Figure 4.1). Nanocomposite samples containing 0.394 g ITZ basis were mixed with the SDS solution in the beaker at room temperature (see table 4.1 for drug content in each formulation). A 0.5 ml aliquot from the mixed suspension was taken at three different time points of 2 min, 10 min, and 30 min and measured directly by laser diffraction. Two runs were performed for each sample to obtain an average and show reproducibility in the results. With this drug to solution ratio, the dispersants could completely dissolve and release the ITZ with little ITZ dissolution and no concern with generating a solution concentration close to the CMC of F-127 (Alexandridis et al., 1994; Bilgili et al., 2018).



Figure 4.1 Redispersion apparatus with overhead stirrer.

	Nanocomposi	ite Formulation	
Polymer type/grade	Polymer (% w/w) <sup>a</sup>	SDS (% w/w) <sup>a</sup>	Theoretical Drug Content (%)
HPC SL	2.5	0.2	78.7
HPC SL	5	0.2	65.8
HPC SL	7.5	0.2	56.5
HPC SL	10	0.2	49.5
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:1)	5	0.2	65.8
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:2)	7.5	0.2	56.5
HPC SL/PVP K30 (1:3)	10	0.2	49.5
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:1)	5	0.2	65.8
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:2)	7.5	0.2	56.5
HPC SL/PEG 3350 (1:3)	10	0.2	49.5
HPC SL/ VA64(1:1)	5	0.2	65.8
HPC SL/VA64 (1:2)	7.5	0.2	56.5
HPC SL/VA64 (1:3)	10	0.2	49.5
HPC SL/F-127 (3.6:1)	3.2	0.2	74.6
HPC SL/F-127 (1:1)	5	0.2	65.8
HPC SL/F-127 (1:2)	7.5	0.2	56.5

**Table 4.1** Theoretical Drug Loading of Nanocomposites

<sup>a</sup>All suspensions have 10% ITZ. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

# **4.1.3 Dissolution Testing**

Dissolution of ITZ nanocomposites was performed using a Distek 2100C dissolution tester (North Brunswick, NJ, USA) according to the USP II paddle method (Bilgili et al., 2018). The dissolution medium was 1000 mL 3.0 g/L SDS solution to follow the same media as was used within redispersion testing. The medium was maintained at 37 °C and stirred by a paddle at 50 rpm. Nanocomposites, equivalent to a dose of 20 mg of ITZ, were added to the medium, and 4 mL samples were taken manually at 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 30, and 60 min. The nanocomposite weight was determined by the theoretical drug content for each

formulation. The absorbance of ITZ dissolved in the media was measured via UVspectroscopy (Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) at 260 nm wavelength. Aliquots of the samples were filtered using a 0.1  $\mu$ m PVDF membrane type syringe filter to avoid any effect of undissolved drug during UV-spectroscopy. The medium solution without drug was used as the blank. The amount of drug dissolved was measured using a calibration curve generated in (Bilgili et al., 2018), with an R<sup>2</sup> = 0.9995. ITZ release was reported as a function of dissolution time for an average of six replicates. >80% drug release in 20 minutes was the criteria for immediate drug release (A. Bhakay et al., 2014; Bilgili et al., 2018). Dissolution profiles of all nanocomposites were statistically compared using difference ( $f_1$ ) and similarity ( $f_2$ ) factors (Kassaye & Genete, 2013).  $f_1$  values up to 15 (0– 15) and  $f_2$  values greater than 50 (50–100) suggest statistical similarity of two profiles (Bilgili et al., 2018).

## 4.1.4 Particle Size of Redispersed Nanocomposites

Particle size distribution (PSD) of all suspensions was measured by Mastersizer 3000 laser diffraction particle size analyzer with Hydro MV cell (Malvern, United Kingdom) using red and blue light and a detection range of 0.01 µm to 3,500 µm. Dispersant cell set at a stir rate of 1,500 rpm, and sonication performed for 30 sec at 60% intensity. Mie scattering theory was used to compute the volume-based distribution with a refractive index of 1.68 for ITZ and 1.33 for deionized water (Bilgili et al., 2018). An alignment of the system followed by a background measurement of 10 sec for red and 10 sec for blue light was taken before each set of readings. Three measurements averaged were taken and reported. Method used was set around repeatable results from measurement to measurement on

various samples following ISO model within the Malvern Software. During measurement, the sample was added until obscuration fell between the ranges of 3 to 8%.

# 4.2 Results and Discussion

## 4.2.1 Nanoparticle Recovery via Redispersion

The redispersion particle size distribution from initial nanoparticle recovery can be shown in Table 4.2. The resulting data was obtained from preliminary testing of generating nanocomposite by scrapping off a round bottom flask. This was where a particle size discrepancy was first noticed when a single sample produced in the rotary evaporator could not be reproduced from one run to another. As one can see between the two sets of runs at different polymer loadings, an issue with reproducing a result in redispersion was seen. The issue tracing back to the particle size as discussed in Chapter 3 and can also be seen within the D<sub>50</sub> and D<sub>90</sub> of the dispersed composites.

	Redispersed Particle Size <sup>b</sup>					
Formulation <sup>a</sup>	D <sub>50</sub> ±SD (µm)	D <sub>90</sub> ±SD (µm)	Q (1µm)±SD (%)			
2.5%HPC-SL	21.2±1.14	219.0±38.73	0.05±0.03			
2.5%HPC-SL	17.87±3.22	235.5±64.78	1.06±0.04			
10%HPC-SL	36.18±1.76	226.5±11.77	3.56±0.08			
10%HPC-SL	0.16±0.01	8.11±8.01	88.83±3.2			

 Table 4.2 Nanocomposite Redispersion: Preliminary Testing of Rotary Evaporated

 Nanocomposites

<sup>a</sup>All precursor suspensions of the nanocomposites have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Redispersed particle size was measured at the end of a 30 min run following the procedures outlined in this chapter.

Following the results in Table 4.2, the implementation of a 5 min mortar and pestle step developed in Chapter 3 was used with all samples. This allowed for reproducible runs during the redispersion testing and homogenized all following samples used throughout the rest of the study. Continuing with mortar and pestle samples and running through a few formulations demonstrated there was an issue with nanoparticle recovery that was not captured in previous runs. Although increasing the polymer concentration up to a total of 7.5% HPC-SL was beneficial in the recovery of almost 25% more nanoparticles (Table 4.3), this was still a low recovery of ITZ nanoparticles as previous studies have reported with just 2.5% HPC-SL a nanoparticle recovery close to 90% (Bilgili et al., 2018).

		<b>D</b> 1	10.11	l a' h
Nanocomposi	te Particle Size	Redi	spersed Partic	le Size <sup>6</sup>
				Q
$D_{50}\pm SD$	$D_{90}\pm SD$	$D_{50}\pm SD$	$D_{90}\pm SD$	(1)
(	(	(	(1172)	$(1\mu m) \pm SD$
(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	(µm)	(0/.)
				(70)
91.3±4.7	238±16.3	20.9±8.79	205±78.2	0.78±0.22
75.6±1.09	$185 \pm 5.20$	$19.3 \pm 0.76$	$74.5 \pm 2.66$	$16.4 \pm 1.54$
134±7.47	382±4.99	$17.5 \pm 3.15$	77.7±10.7	$25.0{\pm}4.05$
	Nanocomposi D <sub>50</sub> ±SD (μm) 91.3±4.7 75.6±1.09 134±7.47	Nanocomposite Particle Size         D <sub>50</sub> ±SD       D <sub>90</sub> ±SD         (µm)       (µm)         91.3±4.7       238±16.3         75.6±1.09       185±5.20         134±7.47       382±4.99	Nanocomposite Particle Size       Redit         D <sub>50</sub> ±SD       D <sub>90</sub> ±SD       D <sub>50</sub> ±SD         (µm)       (µm)       (µm)         91.3±4.7       238±16.3       20.9±8.79         75.6±1.09       185±5.20       19.3±0.76         134±7.47       382±4.99       17.5±3.15	Nanocomposite Particle SizeRedispersed Particle $D_{50}\pm SD$ $D_{90}\pm SD$ $D_{50}\pm SD$ $D_{90}\pm SD$ $(\mu m)$ $(\mu m)$ $(\mu m)$ $(\mu m)$ $91.3\pm4.7$ $238\pm16.3$ $20.9\pm8.79$ $205\pm78.2$ $75.6\pm1.09$ $185\pm5.20$ $19.3\pm0.76$ $74.5\pm2.66$ $134\pm7.47$ $382\pm4.99$ $17.5\pm3.15$ $77.7\pm10.7$

 Table 4.3 Mortar and Pestle Processed Composites Redispersion

<sup>a</sup>All precursor suspensions of the nanocomposites have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Redispersed particle size was measured at the end of a 30 min run following the procedures outlined in this chapter.

With the issue of reproduceable runs resolved, we can transition to investigating issues with polymer solubility. As mentioned in Chapter 3, the solubility of HPC was

challenged at the increased temperature that the composites were initially being produced at. After this processing change the following formulations were explored by redispersion as a comparison to the initial runs. We can see from the initial results in nanoparticle dispersion that this change was very impactful and necessary to the process of generating true nanocomposites (Table 4.4). In addition, the particle size of the generated nanocomposites was not very different between the feed and bleed approach compared to the distillation method. Hence there does not appear to be a nanocomposite particle size effect on the redispersion of nanoparticles from the nanocomposites on this set of data.

	Nanocompos	ite Particle Size	Redispersed Particle Size <sup>b</sup>		
Formulation <sup>a</sup>	D <sub>50</sub> ±SD (µm)	D <sub>90</sub> ±SD (µm)	D <sub>50</sub> ±SD (µm)	D <sub>90</sub> ±SD (µm)	Q (1µm)±SD (%)
2.5%HPC-SL	66.5±4.7	187±18.6	5.62±0.67	31.98±1.03	22.91±3.01
5%HPC-SL	222±22.8	608±73.2	0.367±0.00	26.48±1.15	65.99±0.44
7.5%HPC-SL	122±4.1	329±8.2	0.326±0.01	15.32±0.8	68.36±1.34

 Table 4.4 Feed and Bleed Nanocomposite Redispersion

<sup>a</sup>All precursor suspensions of the nanocomposites have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Redispersed particle size was measured at the end of a 30 min run following the procedures outlined in this chapter.

Continuing with the investigation of polymer impact and loading, in Table 4.5, we can observe the impact that various polymers, at varying loadings, had on the dispersion of nanoparticles.

	Nanocompos	ispersed Partic	persed Particle Size <sup>b</sup>		
Formulation <sup>a</sup>	D50±SD	Don±SD	D50±SD	Doo±SD	Q
	(um)	(um)	(um)	(um)	(1µm)±SD
	(µIII)	(µIII)	(µm)	(µIII)	(%)
2.5%HPC-SL	66.5±4.7	187±18.6	5.62±0.67	32±1.03	22.9±3.01
5%HPC-SL	222±22.8	608±73.2	0.367±0.00	26.5±1.15	66±0.44
7.5%HPC-SL	122±4.1	329±8.2	0.326±0.01	15.32±0.80	68.4±1.34
10%HPC-SL	288±57.2	680±49.0	0.238±0.01	6.54±0.51	85.92±0.35
2.5%HPC-SL/	122+6-5	256+0.4	0 474+0 06	10.07+1.20	59 11+2 15
2.5%PVP K30	122±0.3	<i>5 55</i> 0 <u></u> <u>−</u> <i>9</i> .4 0	0.4/4±0.00	19.07±1.39	38.11±3.13
2.5%HPC-SL/	110+12.0	254+20.2	0 274+0 02	15 27 10 84	62 24 1 84
5%PVP K30	110±12.9	554±50.2	0.374±0.02	13.27±0.04	03.24±1.84
2.5%HPC-SL/	100+2.0	205+0.0	0.222+0.00	14.00+0.45	60 80 10 42
7.5%PVP K30	109±2.9	395±9.9	0.323±0.00	14.90±0.45	09.89±0.42
2.5%HPC-SL/	127+5-7	250+2.7	0.010+0.15	17 97 1 24	51 99 1 77
2.5%PEG 3350	12/±3./	550±3.7	0.812±0.15	17.87±1.54	31.80±1.72
2.5%HPC-SL/	157 10 6	297120.2	0.296+0.01	6 21 + 0 72	74 25 + 1 52
5%PEG 3350	13/±10.0	387±30.2	0.380±0.01	0.31±0.75	/4.33±1.33
2.5%HPC-SL/	122+10.5	417-20.6	0.206+0.00	4 22 + 0.05	91 66+0 14
7.5%PEG 3350	155±10.5	41/±30.0	0.300±0.00	4.33±0.03	01.00±0.14
2.5%HPC-SL/	100+14-1	202+20.6	2 58 1 0 00	22 20 14 07	42.05+0.04
2.5%VA 64	100±14.1	302±20.0	2.38±0.09	∠3.30±4.06	43.03±0.94

 Table 4.5 Impact of Polymer Type and Loading on Redispersed Particle Size

2.5%HPC-SL/	121+6.6	220+24.0	2 627⊥0 16	21 10±2 21	<i>4</i> 0 62±1 52	
5%VA 64	134±0.0	<i>339</i> ±24.9	2.037±0.10	21.10=2.21	40.02±1.32	
2.5%HPC-SL/	87 5+3 0	305+7.0	3 06+0 04	15 73+0 63	33 12+0 50	
7.5%VA 64	87.5±5.0	505-7.7	5.00±0.04	15.75±0.05	55 <b>.4</b> 2±0.50	
2.5%HPC-SL/	62 0+8 9	214+28-7	0 259+0 00	4 74+0 13	83 16+0 43	
0.7%F-127	62.0±8.9	217-20.7	0.239±0.00		05.10-0.15	
2.5%HPC-SL/	136+9.0	276±57	0 141+0 00	0 394+0 02	08 76±0 54	
2.5%F-127	150-7.0	570±5.7	0.111±0.00	0.374±0.02	J0.70±0.34	
2.5%HPC-SL/	108+10.4	341+21 7	0 145+0 00	0 393+0 01	98 48+0 07	
5%F-127	100-10.1	J 11-21.7	0.112-0.00	0.070-0.01	20.10±0.07	

<sup>a</sup>All precursor suspensions of the nanocomposites have 10% ITZ and 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Redispersed particle size was measured at the end of a 30 min run following the procedures outlined in this chapter.

At first glance, one can see a well-defined correlation of nanoparticle release as the polymer concentration increased for almost all formulations aside from that of VA 64. With VA 64 a plateau of nanoparticle recovery can be seen in which the addition of more VA 64 to the formulation had a hinderance effect on the release of ITZ nanoparticles from the composites. This could be due to the affinity of VA 64 to the ITZ nanoparticles over that of dissolving in water, which would preferentially hinder nanoparticle release as a particle size effect influence could not be seen with this polymer. On the other hand, at a total polymer concentration of 10%, formulations were able to release between ~69 and 86% of nanoparticles as compared to that of ~23% nanoparticle recovery from the baseline formulation of 10%ITZ–2.5HPC-SL–0.2%SDS. Most notably was that of PEG containing formulations, PEG 3350 and F-127, which not only generated a nanocomposite which

dispersed well, but also contained very desirable processing enhancement due to the waxy nature of PEG. As seen below in Figure 4.2 the final scraped round bottom from that of composites containing PEG compared to that of other polymers was very evident in the clarity of the flask.



**Figure 4.2** Round bottom flasks at the end of scraping. Higher clarity correlated to an easily processed and recovered nanocomposite. Flask on the left formulation with additional 5%VA 64 and flask on the right containing additional 2.5%F-127 a PEG containing triblock copolymer.

A cursory look at F-127 redispersion data in Table 4.5 suggests that the additional 2.5% F-127 was the only additional dispersant that resulted in a Q (1  $\mu$ m) above 90%. Furthermore, with additional 0.7% F-127, the formulation containing Pluronic was able to obtain a dispersion comparable to that of other polymers which needed 7.5% additional dispersant (Alexandridis et al., 1994). This drastic reduction in the use of additional dispersant is very desirable in final formulations which allows a higher % drug loading (drug payload) in the nanocomposites. F-127 is very desirable in the formation of nanocomposites, having the characteristics of PEG to be processed very efficiently and

enhancing the wettability of the nanocomposites during the redispersion owing to its surfactant-like properties.

## 4.2.2 Dissolution Enhancement of ITZ

Figure 4.3 presents the dissolution profiles of as-received ITZ (unprocessed ITZ) powder, a nanocomposite powder prepared via rotary drying of the 2.5%HPC-SL-2.5%F-127-0.2% nanosuspension, a microparticle composite (labeled "Unmilled") prepared with the same formulation but using unmilled ITZ suspension, a physical mixture (PM) of asreceived ITZ with the formulation but prepared via simple blending, and spray-dried nanocomposite of 10%ITZ-2.5%HPC-SL-0.2%SDS nanosuspension prepared by Bilgili et al. (2018). The as-received ITZ particles dissolved extremely slowly due to its low solubility and their large particle sizes ( $D_{50} = 15.5 \mu m$  and  $D_{90} = 45.8 \mu m$ ) perhaps presence of aggregates; only 8% of the drug dissolved after 60 min. Presence of the hydrophilic dispersants in a PM had a slight, but almost negligible effect, whereas rotary evaporation of a suspension of the unmilled ITZ with the dispersants (Unmilled) led to a nanocomposite with a more notable increase in drug release (22% at 60 min) due to more intimate contact of the dispersants with ITZ particles. These results suggest that without some alteration of ITZ particle size or solid state of the crystals, it is impossible to achieve immediate ITZ release (80% release within 20 min).



**Figure 4.3** ITZ dissolution from nanocomposites compared to physical mixture and rotary evaporated suspension without milling. All formulations are based on having 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–2.5%F-127–0.2%SDS aside from as-received ITZ and spray-dried nanocomposite which only has 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–0.2%SDS. PM is a physical mixture. Un-milled was rotary evaporated without milling. Nano-milled was milled and dried on the rotary evaporator. Spray-dried nanocomposite and as-received ITZ data were obtained from (Bilgili et al., 2018).

The 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–0.2%SDS suspension was wet-milled, 2.5% F-127 was dissolved in it, and the resulting nanosuspension was dried by the rotary evaporator (Figure 4.3). This nanocomposite (2.5%F-127) achieved immediate release. XRPD and DSC studies on nanomilled ITZ (Bilgili et al., 2018) have established that ITZ was largely nanocrystalline. Hence, the observed remarkable increase in the dissolution rate as compared with "PM" and "Unmilled" samples is simply due to the large surface area of the ITZ nanoparticles in the nanocomposites. These nanoparticles were present in the precursor nanosuspension (refer to Table 2.2):  $D_{50} = 0.132 \,\mu\text{m}$  and  $D_{90} = 0.325 \,\mu\text{m}$ . These ITZ nanoparticles has about 117 times larger external surface area than the as-received, unprocessed ITZ particles. Thus, the profiles in Figure 4.3 signify that wet stirred media

milling is the most important processing step that enhances the ITZ dissolution. The calculated difference factor  $f_1$  and the similarity factor  $f_2$  in Table 4.6 suggest that effect of processing with ITZ nanoparticles is statistically different and has the largest impact in comparison to only processing on the rotary evaporator (Table 4.6). A spray-dried nanocomposite even with less dispersant (prepared using a nanosuspension of 10%ITZ– 2.5%HPC-SL–0.2%SDS) outperformed all other samples, achieving immediate release within 5 min. The difference between spray-drying and rotary drying will be further scrutinized in Section 4.2.3.

	Processing Condition/Formulation							
	Physical Mixture As Received ITZ <sup>a</sup> 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 2.5%F-127 0.2%SDS		Un-milled Rotary Evaporated Suspension 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 2.5%F-127 0.2%SDS					
$f_1^{b}$	95.68	94.60	82.22					
$f_2^{b}$	12.06	12.34	15.27					

**Table 4.6**  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  Statistics for the Dissolution Profiles of Differently Processed ITZ Particles

<sup>a</sup>Dissolution data to calculate statistics was obtained from (Bilgili et al., 2018).

<sup>b</sup>The dissolution profiles were compared to 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–2.5%F-127–0.2%SDS nanocomposite which was taken as the reference profile.

Let us examine the effects of various polymers on the dissolution performance (see Figure 4.4). Most formulations with the additional 2.5% dispersant as compared to the *baseline* nanocomposite (10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–0.2%SDS) were able to achieve an 80% dissolution within a 20 min time. The dissolution profiles of all rotary dried

nanosuspensions are somewhat constrained within a narrow space, except the baseline nanocomposite and the "low" dissolution profile of the 2.5% HPC-SL nanocomposite (with  $D_{50} = 222.4 \mu m$  particles). The latter nanocomposite had much larger  $D_{50}$  than all other nanocomposites; hence, its dissolution took longer despite the presence of additional 2.5% HPC-SL (total of 5% HPC-SL), which clearly demonstrates the importance of nanocomposite particle size besides the itraconazole (drug) particle size. A slight improvement was also observed when 2.5%F-127 nanocomposite nanoparticles ( $D_{50} = 136.4 \mu m$ ) was milled in Labram equipment after mortar and pestle milling into the 2.5%F-127 nanocomposite particles with  $D_{50} = 11.3 \mu m$  (highest profile in Figure 4.4) also validates the positive impact of finer nanocomposite particles on drug release. Unfortunately, for the other nanocomposites, this nanocomposite particle size effect is a confounding factor along with the different polymers used.

In Table 4.7, the  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  statistics show that there is not a significant difference between the different formulations aside from that of 2.5%HPC-SL which does appear to show a slight dissimilarity from the baseline in its poor performance in the dissolution testing.

The  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  statistics from the nanocomposite milled formulation which underwent 50 min of ball milling and contained 2.5% F-127 additional over *baseline* showed no difference, see Table 4.8, from taking the particle size of 136.4 µm D<sub>50</sub> down to 28.44 µm D<sub>50</sub> particle size. On the other hand, there was a statistical difference in the dissolution performance of the spray dried nanocomposite from Bilgili et al. (2018), compared to the same formulation that was rotary evaporated having an  $f_1$  of 21.84 and  $f_2$  of 35.62, showing there is a significant improvement in the dissolution potentially due to the particle size difference in the nanocomposites (Bilgili et al., 2018).



**Figure 4.4** Dissolution at 2.5% additional dispersant over baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS. Nanocomposite particle size for reference is recorded next to each formulation in the legend. Spray-dried nanocomposite data were taken from (Bilgili et al., 2018). The formulation of the spray-dried nanocomposite was that of the baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS.

	Processing Condition/Formulation <sup>a</sup>							
		2.5% F-						
	2.5%	127	2.5%	2.5%	2.5%	2.5%		
	F-127 <sup>b</sup>	Composite	HPC-SL <sup>b</sup>	VA 64 <sup>b</sup>	PEG 3350 <sup>b</sup>	PVP K30 <sup>b</sup>		
		Milled <sup>b</sup>						
$f_1^{c}$	6.24	12.6	14.5	11.3	6.25	6.52		
$f_2^{\rm c}$	70.8	57.4	49.2	58.5	72.1	69.6		

# **Table 4.7** $f_1$ and $f_2$ Statistics for Polymer Type

<sup>a</sup>All nanocomposites have 10% ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2% SDS (baseline). Additional dispersants were shows in the table%w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Each formulation composition is that of additional dispersant added in addition to baseline nanocomposite. <sup>c</sup>The dissolution profiles were compared to 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–0.2%SDS nanocomposite which was taken as the reference profile.

## 4.2.3 Spray Drying vs. Rotary Evaporator Drying

The dissolution performance of rotary evaporated nanocomposites and that of spray-dried nanocomposites was compared in Figure 4.5. The initial impression that can be seen from the figure is a slight increase in the dissolution performance as an additional 2.5% of F-127 was added to the formulation. In addition to the polymer effect, the particle size of the nanocomposites was of great interest due to the variety that can be seen in Table 3.3. The smaller nanocomposites in theory would have higher surface area and assist with the dissolution and redispersion performance. As one can see from the dissolution results below looking at the reduction of particle size, we can see that there is a slight assistance from having a smaller nanocomposite particle size. To quantify the statistical significance of these differences,  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  factors were calculated on the formulations in Figure 4.5 (see Table 4.8).



**Figure 4.5** Dissolution comparison of spray-dried vs. rotary evaporated nanocomposites. Nanocomposite particle size for reference is recorded next to each formulation in the legend. Spray-dried nanocomposite data were taken from (Bilgili et al., 2018). The formulation of the spray-dried nanocomposite was that of the baseline formulation 10%ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2%SDS and other contained an additional 2.5% of their respective dispersant.

The  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  statistics for all formulations compared to the spray dried were statistically different based on the values reported within Table 4.8. A particle size effect from the spray dried nanocomposites being the smallest could be the driving factor in the significant improvement which spray dried composites have over that of rotary evaporated composites. In addition, the effect of milling the 2.5% F-127 sample from a particle size of 136.4 µm down to 28.44 µm was not statistically different as evident in the  $f_1$  and  $f_2$ values in Table 4.8.
	Processing Condition/Formulation <sup>a</sup>		
	Baseline	2.5% F-127 Composite Milled <sup>b</sup>	Spray-Dried Baseline
$f_1^{c}$	5.97	7.82	38.0
$f_2^{\rm c}$	70.8	65.6	31.0

**Table 4.8**  $f_1$  and  $f_2$  Statistics for Dissolution of Rotary Evaporated and Spray-Dried Nanocomposites

<sup>a</sup>All nanocomposites have 10% ITZ 2.5%HPC-SL 0.2% SDS. %w/w is with respect to the weight of deionized water (300 g).

<sup>b</sup>Each formulation composition is that of additional dispersant added in addition to baseline nanocomposite. <sup>c</sup>The dissolution profiles were compared to 10%ITZ–2.5%HPC-SL–2.5%F-127–0.2%SDS nanocomposite which was taken as the reference profile.

To conclude, the particle size effect from the rotary evaporated nanocomposites at 28.44  $\mu$ m down to 11.3  $\mu$ m of the spray-dried nanocomposites was a statistical and visual improvement into the dissolution performance of the composites. On the other hand, the particle size reduction from that of the same two rotary evaporated nanocomposites from 136.4  $\mu$ m down to 28.44  $\mu$ m was not statistically different and did not show a great improvement in the dissolution. This suggests that there may be a sweet spot in the nanocomposite particle size that will allow for great improvement in dissolution without compromising powder properties (e.g. deteriorated flowability) associated with particles sizes below a D<sub>50</sub> of 50  $\mu$ m.

Interestingly, the impact of polymer type/loading on the nanocomposite redispersion was notable and significant; however, their impact on the dissolution was somewhat less remarkable. To put it another way, our dissolution test protocol has less discriminatory power than the dissolution test. This could be due to the use of 3 g/L SDS concentration as opposed to a 0.1 N HCl redispersion/dissolution media, which could have

improved the discriminatory power of the dissolution testing. Also, there was no significant correlation between the redispersion test and the dissolution test. In general, a significant correlation between these two different tests is not expected as they measure fundamentally different, but interconnected phenomena. The hydrodynamics in the redispersion vessel and the dissolution vessel are different. The large volume of aqueous media allows for dissolution of the drug particles, thus facilitating redispersion; whereas drug cannot dissolve in the redispersion test. In other words, the redispersion during the dissolution test is expected to be faster than that in the redispersion test. Interestingly, for the fluidized-bed coated/dried nanocomposites of griseofulvin (another BCS Class II drug), Bhakay et al. (2018a) established a correlation between the redispersion test and the dissolution test (Bhakay, Davé, et al., 2018). Nevertheless, they used deionized water as the medium in both tests, which enabled excellent discrimination power for different formulations. We could not use water here as ITZ solubility would be undetectable by UV spectroscopy.

# 4.3 Conclusions

The redispersion and dissolution data presented in this manuscript has shown great insight into nanocomposites and their performance when dried using a rotary evaporator. The dissolution data showed that wet stirred media milling was required to achieve a significant increase in ITZ release rate. In general, with respect to the effect of different polymers on the dissolution performance, there was no statistical difference among all formulated nanocomposites provided they do not have a median size above ~150  $\mu$ m. On the other hand, the redispersion tests told a different story. Across the same polymer concentration, each polymer affected the dispersion of nanoparticles from the nanocomposite affecting the percentage of nanoparticles that were able to be recovered within the testing period. Out of all formulations in this test, the samples containing F-127 had the most significant impact on the reconstitution of nanoparticles achieving complete dispersion with just 2.5% additional dispersant. This was the only formulation to completely disperse nanocomposites back to a nanoparticle suspension. At just 0.7% additional F-127, the polymer was able to disperse an equivalent percentage compared to that of other formulations containing 7.5% additional polymer in the formulation. This drastic difference in use of polymer makes for a large difference in the overall assay of the nanocomposites that is beneficial when looking at downstream tablet formulation. However, both tests agreed on the fact that additional 2.5% dispersant led to higher extent of nanoparticle recovery and faster dissolution; however, the dissolution tests were less discerning than the redispersion tests.

#### **CHAPTER 5**

# **CONCLUSION AND FUTURE WORK**

### **5.1 Conclusions**

This research has established the feasibility of rotary evaporation drying of wet-milled itraconazole nanosuspensions and examined the impact of various polymers/surfactants on the redispersion and drug release from the nanocomposites. Overall, rotary evaporation of drug nanosuspensions could yield drug nanocomposites with high drug loading (~67%), fast redispersion, and immediate release of poorly soluble drugs, with less concern over potential flowability issues than spray-dried nanocomposites.

Wet stirred media milling plays the most important role in enhancing the drug dissolution as it increased the drug surface area by ~100-folds. The presence of hydrophilic water-soluble polymers helped to enhance the wettability and enabled film formation during the nanocomposite formation. The neutral polymeric surfactant (Pluronic F-127) and the anionic surfactant (SDS) also helped to improve the wettability of the nanocomposites; while SDS also contributed to the physical stability of the precursor suspensions. The impact of various polymers was more apparent in the redispersion tests than in the dissolution tests due to the lower discrimination power of the latter. Provided that the nanocomposites had a median size less than ~150  $\mu$ m, the nanocomposites with 1:2 dispersant:polymer ratio enabled immediate ITZ release from the nanocomposites during the *in vitro* dissolution tests.

In rotary evaporation drying, a feed and bleed approach proved to be the best method of generating nanocomposites when studying the redispersion of nanoparticles from certain formulations. Mortar and pestle milling of the dried nanocomposite particles enabled us to produce a relatively homogeneous powder with all particles less than 1 mm and reduced standard deviation in measured particle sizes. In larger scales, mortar and pestle milling could be replaced by continuous conical-screen milling. Besides reducing the particle size range, mortar and pestle milling reduced the particle sizes, thus enabling faster redispersion and dissolution.

While the spray-drying led to finer nanocomposites with the median sizes (10–30  $\mu$ m) with faster drug release, such small particles are associated with poor flowability. The nanocomposites prepared via rotary evaporator drying followed by mortar and pestle milling have coarser particles (median size ranging from ~50–150  $\mu$ m), which are expected to have more favorable flowability. Therefore, when optimized, the wet stirred media milling followed by rotary evaporation and a size-determining milling step could help formulators to design ideal nanocomposites for effective delivery of poorly soluble drugs.

### 5.2 Future Work

# 5.2.1 Use of Other Dispersants for Dissolution Enhancement

Some categories of dispersants and their potential effect on redispersion and dissolution were not considered in this work. The need for dispersant optimization using colloidal superdisintegrants (a novel dispersant), sugars, sugar alcohols, and other polymers/surfactants is obvious. The optimization of these various dispersant would take a variety of experiments to understand the complete impact of these dispersants on the formulations generated from rotary evaporation.

#### 5.2.2 Flowability and Tabletability Assessment of Nanocomposites

The nanocomposite powders are ultimately integrated into various solid oral dosages such as oral capsules and tablets for final consumption and use by the patient. To create tablets, flowability, compactability, and compressibility characteristics of the nanocomposites either directly or after addition of excipients such as functional fillers and lubricants. The use of an FT-4 to measure the resistance of a powder to flow and the stress on a nanocomposite would better help to understand what powder properties are desired for tableting. In addition, the use of bulk and tapped density would also show which formulations are more desirable as powders that have the least difference in bulk and tapped density tend to tablet much better without the need for additional dispersants to bulk up the tablet for desirable properties.

# **5.2.3 Pharmacokinetics Studies**

In this study, we were able to demonstrate a sensitive method of characterizing nanocomposites dried with a rotary evaporator using redispersion. In addition, the use of dissolution was also studied with less discrimination between the different formulations. To understand the full impact on polymers on these nanocomposites, the use of pharmacokinetic studies would need to be conducted to see if the differences in redispersed nanoparticles will translate into greater systemic absorption by the body by having a constant reservoir of nanoparticles that can dissolve as the body is absorbing the drug. These studies should be able to show if the results from *in vitro* redispersion or dissolution are translated into absorption or if the results seen in the dissolution test hold true and no difference is seen between the formulations regardless of the polymers used to generate

nanocomposites. Therefore, pharmacokinetic studies are essential to understand the full extent of differences in formulating nanocomposites produced from rotary evaporation.

# 5.2.4 Thin Film Evaporation (TFE): Drying of Nanosuspensions

A rotary evaporation technique was developed in this study for lab scale understanding of drying nanocomposites. This lab scale unit is meant to be analogous representation of the TFE and the properties of nanocomposites that can be dried using this technique. To completely understand if the rotary evaporator was a correct choice for the lab scale performance of drying drug nanosuspensions, running scale up runs on the TFE and comparing the dried nanocomposites using the same gauntlet of tests, redispersion and dissolution, to that of rotary evaporated nanocomposites is a must to close the gap in this understanding of nanocomposite formation. This would be done for a similar set of formulations as was used in the dissolution testing to understand the particle size, polymer type, and overall characteristics of both TFE nanocomposites and those produced from rotary evaporation.

#### REFERENCES

- Alexandridis, P., Holzwarth, J. F., & Hatton, T. A. (1994). Micellization of poly(ethylene oxide)-poly(propylene oxide)-poly(ethylene oxide) triblock copolymers in aqueous solutions: Thermodynamics of copolymer association. *Macromolecules*, 27, 2414-2425.
- Azad, M., Moreno, J., Bilgili, E., & Davé, R. (2016). Fast dissolution of poorly water soluble drugs from fluidized bed coated nanocomposites: Impact of carrier size. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 513(1), 319-331. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2016.09.046</u>
- Badawi, A. A., El-Nabarawi, M. A., El-Setouhy, D. A., & Alsammit, S. A. (2011). Formulation and stability testing of itraconazole crystalline nanoparticles. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, *12*(3), 811-820. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-011-9651-9
- Bhakay, A., Azad, M., Bilgili, E., & Dave, R. (2014). Redispersible fast dissolving nanocomposite microparticles of poorly water-soluble drugs. *International Journal* of *Pharmaceutics*, 461(1-2), 367-379. <u>https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0378517313010648?via%</u> <u>3Dihub</u>
- Bhakay, A., Azad, M., Vizzotti, E., Dave, R. N., & Bilgili, E. (2014). Enhanced recovery and dissolution of griseofulvin nanoparticles from surfactant-free nanocomposite microparticles incorporating wet-milled swellable dispersants. *Drug Development* and Industrial Pharmacy, 40(11), 1509-1522. https://doi.org/10.3109/03639045.2013.831442
- Bhakay, A., Davé, R., & Bilgili, E. (2013). Recovery of BCS Class II drugs during aqueous redispersion of core–shell type nanocomposite particles produced via fluidized bed coating. *Powder Technology*, 236, 221-234. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.powtec.2011.12.066
- Bhakay, A., Davé, R. N., & Bilgili, E. (2018). Quiescent and Agitated Redispersion as a Tool for Evaluating Dispersant Effectiveness in Dissolution Enhancement of Drug-Laden Nanocomposites. AAPS PharmSciTech, 19(1), 436-447. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-017-0850-x
- Bhakay, A., Rahman, M., Dave, R. N., & Bilgili, E. (2018). Bioavailability Enhancement of Poorly Water-Soluble Drugs via Nanocomposites: Formulation<sup>-</sup>Processing Aspects and Challenges. *Pharmaceutics*, 10(3). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics10030086</u>
- Bilgili, E., Rahman, M., Palacios, D., & Arevalo, F. (2018). Impact of polymers on the aggregation of wet-milled itraconazole particles and their dissolution from spraydried nanocomposites. *Advanced Powder Technology*, 29(12), 2941-2956. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apt.2018.09.039</u>
- Chaubal, M. V., & Popescu, C. (2008). Conversion of nanosuspensions into dry powders by spray drying: a case study. *Pharm Res*, 25(10), 2302-2308. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-008-9625-0</u>
- Choi, J.-Y., Park, C. H., & Lee, J. (2008). Effect of Polymer Molecular Weight on Nanocomminution of Poorly Soluble Drug. Drug Delivery, 15(5), 347-353. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10717540802039113</u>

- Chua, K. J., & Chou, S. K. (2005). New Hybrid Drying Technologies. In D.-W. Sun (Ed.), *Emerging Technologies for Food Processing* (pp. 535-551). Academic Press. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-012676757-5/50022-0
- Eiliazadeh, B., Briscoe, B., Sheng, Y., & Pitt, K. (2003). Investigating Density Distributions for Tablets of Different Geometry During the Compaction of Pharmaceuticals. *Particulate Science and Technology - PARTICULATE SCI TECHNOLOGY*, 21, 303-316. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/716100572</u>
- Fasano, A. (1998). Innovative strategies for the oral delivery of drugs and peptides. *Trends* in Biotechnology, 16(4), 152-157. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0167-7799(97)01170-0</u>
- Fu, Q., Sun, J., Zhang, D., Li, M., Wang, Y., Ling, G., Liu, X., Sun, Y., Sui, X., Luo, C., Sun, L., Han, X., Lian, H., Zhu, M., Wang, S., & He, Z. (2013). Nimodipine nanocrystals for oral bioavailability improvement: Preparation, characterization and pharmacokinetic studies. *Colloids and Surfaces B: Biointerfaces*, 109, 161-166. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.colsurfb.2013.01.066</u>
- Gade, N. R., Shelke, M. M., Vare, S. R., & Gowekar, N. M. (2020). SOLUBILITY ENHANCEMENT BY ADVANCE TECHNIQUES - LYOPHILIZATION, SPRAY DRYING AND ROTARY EVAPORATOR METHOD. WORLD JOURNAL OF PHARMACEUTICAL RESEARCH, 9(7). https://doi.org/10.20959/wjpr20207-17921
- Ghazal, H. S., Dyas, A. M., Ford, J. L., & Hutcheon, G. A. (2009). In vitro evaluation of the dissolution behaviour of itraconazole in bio-relevant media. *Int J Pharm*, 366(1-2), 117-123. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2008.09.003</u>
- Ghosh, I., Bose, S., Vippagunta, R., & Harmon, F. (2011). Nanosuspension for improving the bioavailability of a poorly soluble drug and screening of stabilizing agents to inhibit crystal growth. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 409(1), 260-268. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2011.02.051</u>
- Jackson, M. J., Kestur, U. S., Hussain, M. A., & Taylor, L. S. (2016). Dissolution of Danazol Amorphous Solid Dispersions: Supersaturation and Phase Behavior as a Function of Drug Loading and Polymer Type. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, 13(1), 223-231. <u>https://pubs.acs.org/doi/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.5b00652</u>
- https://pubs.acs.org/doi/pdf/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.5b00652
- Jain, M., Ganesh, L., Manoj, B., Randhir, C., Shashikant, B., & Chirag, S. (2012). Spray Drying in Pharmaceutical Industry: A Review. 4, 74-79.
- Jeong, S. H., & Park, K. (2008). Drug loading and release properties of ion-exchange resin complexes as a drug delivery matrix. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, 361(1-2), 26-32.
- Junghanns, J. A. H., & Muller, R. H. (2008). Nanocrystal technology, drug delivery and clinical applications. *International Journal of Nanomedicine*, *3*(3), 295-310. https://www.dovepress.com/getfile.php?fileID=3608
- Kassaye, L., & Genete, G. (2013). Evaluation and comparison of in-vitro dissolution profiles for different brands of amoxicillin capsules. *Afr Health Sci*, *13*(2), 369-375. <u>https://doi.org/10.4314/ahs.v13i2.25</u>
- Khairnar, S., Kini, R., Harwalkar, M., Salunkhe, K., & Chaudhari, S. (2012). A Review on Freeze Drying Process of Pharmaceuticals. *International Journal of Research in Pharmacy and science*, *IJRPS 2013*, 76-94.

- Khuman, P., Singh, W., Devi, S., & Naorem, H. (2014). Viscosity-Temperature Behavior of Hydroxypropyl Cellulose Solution in Presence of an Electrolyte or a Surfactant: A Convenient Method to Determine the Cloud Point of Polymer Solutions. *Journal* of Macromolecular Science, 51. https://doi.org/10.1080/10601325.2014.953377
- Kim, S., & Lee, J. (2010). Effective polymeric dispersants for vacuum, convection and freeze drying of drug nanosuspensions. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 397(1), 218-224. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.07.010</u>
- Knieke, C., Azad, M. A., Davé, R. N., & Bilgili, E. (2013). A study of the physical stability of wet media-milled fenofibrate suspensions using dynamic equilibrium curves. *Chemical Engineering Research and Design*, 91(7), 1245-1258. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cherd.2013.02.008</u>
- Lee, B. W., Yin, K., Splaine, K., & Roesch, B. (2020). Thin-Film Evaporator Model for Continuous Active Pharmaceutical Ingredient Manufacturing. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 59(7), 3252-3260. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.iecr.9b03974</u>
- Lee, J. (2003). Drug Nano‐ and Microparticles Processed into Solid Dosage Forms: Physical Properties. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 92(10), 2057-2068. https://doi.org/10.1002/jps.10471
- Li, M. (2017). Assessment of Nanocomposites Versus Amorphous Solid Dispersions for Dissolution Enhancement of BCS Class II Drugs. *Ph.D. Thesis, New Jersey Institute of Technology, Newark, NJ, USA.*
- Li, M., Azad, M., Davé, R., & Bilgili, E. (2016). Nanomilling of Drugs for Bioavailability Enhancement: A Holistic Formulation-Process Perspective. *Pharmaceutics*, 8(2). <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pharmaceutics8020017</u>
- Li, M., Lopez, N., & Bilgili, E. (2016). A study of the impact of polymer-surfactant in drug nanoparticle coated pharmatose composites on dissolution performance. *Advanced Powder Technology*, 27(4), 1625-1636. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apt.2016.05.026</u>
- Li, M., Zhang, L., Davé, R. N., & Bilgili, E. (2016). An Intensified Vibratory Milling Process for Enhancing the Breakage Kinetics during the Preparation of Drug Nanosuspensions. *AAPS PharmSciTech*, *17*(2), 389-399. https://doi.org/10.1208/s12249-015-0364-3
- Lipinski, C. (2002). Poor aqueous solubility An industry wide problem in drug discovery. *American Pharmaceutical Review*, *5*, 82-85.
- Malamatari, M., Taylor, K. M. G., Malamataris, S., Douroumis, D., & Kachrimanis, K. (2018). Pharmaceutical nanocrystals: production by wet milling and applications. *Drug Discov Today*, 23(3), 534-547. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.drudis.2018.01.016</u>
- Müllertz, A., Ogbonna, A., Ren, S., & Rades, T. (2010). New perspectives on lipid and surfactant based drug delivery systems for oral delivery of poorly soluble drugs. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 62(11), 1622-1636. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.2042-7158.2010.01107.x</u>
- Napper, D. H. (1970). Colloid Stability. *Product R&D*, 9(4), 467-477. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/i360036a005</u>
- Niwa, T., & Danjo, K. (2013). Design of self-dispersible dry nanosuspension through wet milling and spray freeze-drying for poorly water-soluble drugs. *European Journal*

*of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *50*(3), 272-281. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2013.07.011

- Norbert Rasenack, B. W. M. (2002). Dissolution Rate Enhancement by in Situ Micronization of Poorly Water-Soluble Drugs. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 19(12), 1894-1900. <u>https://doi.org/10.1023/a:1021410028371</u>
- Poozesh, S., & Bilgili, E. (2019). Scale-up of pharmaceutical spray drying using scale-up rules: A review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 562, 271-292. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2019.03.047
- Rahman, M., Arevalo, F., Coelho, A., & Bilgili, E. (2019). Hybrid nanocrystal–amorphous solid dispersions (HyNASDs) as alternative to ASDs for enhanced release of BCS Class II drugs. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 145, 12-26. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2019.10.002</u>
- Saboo, S., Kestur, U. S., Flaherty, D. P., & Taylor, L. S. (2020). Congruent Release of Drug and Polymer from Amorphous Solid Dispersions: Insights into the Role of Drug-Polymer Hydrogen Bonding, Surface Crystallization, and Glass Transition. *Molecular Pharmaceutics*, *17*(4), 1261-1275. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.molpharmaceut.9b01272
- Schenck, L., Koynov, A., & Cote, A. (2019). Particle engineering at the drug substance, drug product interface: a comprehensive platform approach to enabling continuous drug substance to drug product processing with differentiated material properties. Drug Dev Ind Pharm, 45(4), 521-531. https://doi.org/10.1080/03639045.2018.1562467
- Serajuddin, A. T. M. (1999). Solid dispersion of poorly water-soluble drugs: Early promises, subsequent problems, and recent breakthroughs. *Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *88*(10), 1058-1066. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1021/js9804031
- Shegokar, R., & Müller, R. H. (2010). Nanocrystals: Industrially feasible multifunctional formulation technology for poorly soluble actives. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 399(1), 129-139. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.07.044
- Tanguy, G., Dolivet, A., Garnier-Lambrouin, F., Méjean, S., Coffey, D., Birks, T., Jeantet, R., & Schuck, P. (2015). Concentration of dairy products using a thin film spinning cone evaporator. *Journal of Food Engineering*, 166, 356-363. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfoodeng.2015.07.001</u>
- Tateo, F. (1990). Production of Concentrated Orange Oils Using a Thin Film Evaporator.JournalofEssentialOilResearch,2(1),7-13.https://doi.org/10.1080/10412905.1990.9697809
- Tuomela, A., Laaksonen, T., Laru, J., Antikainen, O., Kiesvaara, J., Ilkka, J., Oksalae, O., Rönkkö, S., Järvinen, K., Hirvonen, J., & Peltonen, L. (2015). Solid formulations by a nanocrystal approach: Critical process parameters regarding scale-ability of nanocrystals for tableting applications. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 485(1-2), 77-86.

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0378517315002112?via% 3Dihub

Van Eerdenbrugh, B., Froyen, L., Van Humbeeck, J., Martens, J. A., Augustijns, P., & Van Den Mooter, G. (2008). Alternative matrix formers for nanosuspension solidification: Dissolution performance and X-ray microanalysis as an evaluation tool for powder dispersion. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *35*(4), 344-353. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejps.2008.08.003</u>

- Vehring, R. (2008). Pharmaceutical Particle Engineering via Spray Drying. *Pharmaceutical Research*, 25(5), 999-1022. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11095-007-9475-1</u>
- Verma, S., & Burgess, D. (2009). Solid Nanosuspensions: The Emerging Technology and Pharmaceutical Applications as Nanomedicine. In (pp. 285-318). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4419-1087-5\_10
- Verma, S., Kumar, S., Gokhale, R., & Burgess, D. J. (2011). Physical stability of nanosuspensions: Investigation of the role of stabilizers on Ostwald ripening. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 406(1), 145-152. https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpharm.2010.12.027
- Vogt, M., Vertzoni, M., Kunath, K., Reppas, C., & Dressman, J. B. (2008). Cogrinding enhances the oral bioavailability of EMD 57033, a poorly water soluble drug, in dogs. *European Journal of Pharmaceutics and Biopharmaceutics*, 68(2), 338-345. <u>https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpb.2007.06.011</u>
- Yadav, A. V., Shete, A. S., Dabke, A. P., Kulkarni, P. V., & Sakhare, S. S. (2009). Cocrystals: a novel approach to modify physicochemical properties of active pharmaceutical ingredients. *Indian J Pharm Sci*, 71(4), 359-370. https://doi.org/10.4103/0250-474x.57283
- Zhong, R., Peng, L., Iacobescu, R., Pontikes, Y., Shu, R., Ma, L., & Sels, B. (2016). Scalable Synthesis of Acidic Mesostructured Silica-Carbon Nanocomposite Catalysts by Rotary Evaporation. *ChemCatChem*, 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/cctc.201600939</u>